
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE 

 
TO BE HELD HYBRID ON ZOOM VIA COUNCIL CHAMBER 

 
ON MONDAY 10 OCTOBER 2022 AT 2.30 PM 

 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

MONDAY 10 OCTOBER 2022
  PAGE 
 
1   Presentation on Dublin South City Partnership   

 
 

2   Presentation on Temple Bar Square Area Improvement   
 

8 - 19 

3   Minutes of the South East Area Committee Meeting held on 12th September 2022   
 

20 - 61 

4   Environment and Transportation Department Matters 
 

i. Minutes of the Traffic Advisory Group Meeting held on 27th September 
2022 

 

62 - 64 

5   College Green Plaza and Related Matters   
 

 

6   Culture, Recreation and Economic Services Department Matters 
 

i. Report on Proposed Part 8 Works at Terenure Library (For information 
purposes only) 

 

65 - 67 

7   Planning and Property Management Department Matters 
 

i. Poolbeg West SDZ Planning Update. 
 

68 - 72 

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm 
if all or part of the meeting is being filmed. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2014, the Data Protection Act 1988 and 2018, 
General Data Protection Regulations (EU) 2016/679 and the Defamation Act 2009. Data collected during this webcast will be retained 
in accordance with the legislation. 
 
Therefore, by entering the Council Chamber/Meeting Room and using the seats around the meeting tables, public gallery etc., you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Chief Executives Department on Extn. 2101 or DD (01) 222 2100. 

 



 

8   Office of City Recovery Matters 
 

i. Public Domain Report. 
 

73 - 78 

9   South East Area Office Matters 
 

i. Report of the Director of Services Central and South East. 
 

ii. Report on Proposed Naming and Numbering of a Development at Beach 
Road, Sandymount, Dublin 4: Shore Club, awaiting translation to Irish. 
 

iii. Nomination of a member to replace Cllr. Kevin Donoghue on the South 
Inner City Local Drugs and Alcohol Task Force.  

 

79 - 93 

10   Motions 
 
Motion 1 from Councillor Dermot Lacey 
This Committee requests an update on when the long promised and approved 
works at the Donnybrook Cemetery will be carried out.  
 
Motion 2 from Councillor Dermot Lacey 
This Committee requests the Manager to have the road surface of the general 
Gulistan Cottages area examined with a view to a serious upgrade and at a very 
minimum to have a major road and footpath sweeping and weed clearance 
undertaken. 
 
Motion 3 from Councillor Dermot Lacey 
This Committee requests that a yellow box be installed outside the Ranelagh 
Medical Centre, Sandford Road, repeatedly requested before and inexplicably 
refused. 
 
Motion 4 from Councillor James Geoghegan 
The South East Area committee recommends that camper vans (vehicles that 
have multiple sleeping births) be explicitly excluded from the definition of 
"vehicles" in the 2020 DCC Parking Bye-laws thereby prohibiting the owners from 
applying for residential parking permits as well as visitors with camper vans 
from using paid parking; if this motion passes that it be referred to the Transport 
SPC to see the law amended.  
 
Motion 5 from Councillor James Geoghegan 
The South East Area Committee agrees that LED Advertising hoardings of the 
type used recently in Ranelagh and Rathmines be banned throughout the South 
East Area.  
 
Motion 6 from Councillor James Geoghegan 
That the South East Area Committee agrees to write to the proprietor responsible 
for maintaining the clocks in Rathmines village and inquire as to when or how they 
might be put into working order and what funds are required to see that take 
place.  
 
Motion 7 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 
To the local area manager, councillors, the Parks Department and Arts & Culture 
SPC re Padel sport for children, adults and elderly, lighter version of tennis.  
 
I am notified by Kevin O’Reilly, co-founder of padel360, a company focused on 
growing the sport of Padel in Ireland that he is reaching out to highlight where 
they see potential to enhance sport facilities in the south east area. It is 

 



 

considered that adding Padel courts to parks or recreational areas could have a 
positive impact on the local community. Padel is often described as a mixture of 
tennis and squash and it is now the fastest growing sport in the world. Ireland’s 
growth trajectory is beginning to resemble the early stage growth seen in other 
European countries, and this is no surprise given the extended Irish sport and 
tennis culture. It is considered that one example where padel has added value to 
the community, is in Terenure, Bushy Park, operating in a financially self-sufficient 
way and is consistently over-subscribed. Further, the following characteristics give 
some insight into the growth potential of padel in Ireland; 
 
Great form of exercise regardless of age or physical ability, allowing more people 
to get active. 
Excellent space utilisation is made possible by the small court relative to tennis. 
Social fun game played only in doubles form.  Players see it as a great way to 
meet new people while keeping fit. ·Environmentally friendly; sport is inherently 
environmentally friendly, particularly padel. 
Presently only one facility exits in South Dublin.  Padel360 are seeking 
partnerships with local councils to build and manage padel courts.  
 
Can the Padel sport court be provided in some large park, for instance, in 
Crumlin? 
 
They have provided a link to their website which I attach here for Parks Dept. and 
City Council to address.  
 
http://www.padel360.ie/ 
 
Motion 8 Councillors Mary Freehill and Dermot Lacey 
The successful Swan Leisure Centre is a wonderful resource for the 
Rathmines and very much appreciated by the local community.   The genesis of 
this service was as a result of the commitment and work of the local community in 
the early years post 2000.   At the time of construction the project had to be 
curtailed.  Because of its current success, it is clear that a building extension is 
needed to extend the service and cater for the community.  Furthermore, 
Rathmines is very poorly served because of lack of community use buildings.  
While members of this committee recognise the need to extend the services 
equally, Rathmines Initiative and local sports clubs remind us of the serious gap in 
resources in the area.  
 
This committee acknowledges the current administrative and financial success of 
the centre. Therefore this committee agrees that the City Architect be requested 
to initiate a scoping exercise and capacity study in consultation with The Swan 
Leisure Board along with these local groups.  A liaison group from this committee 
could work with local community, Swan Leisure Board and council depts. to 
develop proposals.     
 
Furthermore it is agreed that the council explore the possibility of using the roof of 
the crèche (building is in DCC ownership) adjacent to Swan Leisure for solar 
panels, which could help create energy savings in the leisure centre   
 
Motion 9 Councillor Anne Feeney 
That this Committee calls upon the council to address the situation of granting 
planning permission to flood lit illuminated advertising hoardings (replacing older 
traditional top lit hoardings), where it has an adverse impact on the quality of life 
for local residents who have to endure bright and flashing lights illuminating their 
homes at night.   
 

http://www.padel360.ie/


 

Motion 10 Councillor Mary Freehill 
That the working group set up some years ago in conjunction with SDCC to work 
on issues that impact on both DCC and SDCC be re-established.  It’s important 
that we councillors on both local authorities co-operate with each other in relation 
to Metro South West”  
 
Motion 11 Councillor Mary Freehill 
In preparation for the plant sale next year that this committee agree to consult 
with Harold’s Cross Grow or any other appropriate group to look at providing 
workshops face to face and or zoom on vegetable/herb growing.  It would be 
interesting to become knowledgeable on how to grow vegetables in among flower 
beds and or window boxes.  At the flower plant sale earlier this year, quite a few 
people asked if we had vegetable plants”.  
 
Motion 12 Councillors Carolyn Moore, Tara Deacy, Anne Feeney, Deirdre 
Conroy, Mary Freehill and Pat Dunne 
This committee does not accept that a safe pedestrian crossing point cannot be 
provided to help people cross the busy junction at Rathfarnham Road and 
Terenure Road, the scene of two recent road traffic accidents which have both 
involved school children trying to get to or from their school. We are calling on the 
traffic engineers to examine this junction, make a recommendation on the actions 
needed to make it safer, and urgently allocate funding to implement those 
measures.  
 
This committee agrees that it is completely unacceptable that outside of the hours 
where a crossing guard is provided, children and other vulnerable pedestrians are 
forced to put their personal safety at risk to cross this road, and believes that the 
onus is not on the NTA to deliver this infrastructure, but on Dublin City Council, 
whether self-funded or funded by the NTA under the active travel programme.  
 
Motion 13 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
This committee requests an urgent intervention from the area manager on the 
issue of illegal parking on the footpaths on Harold’s Cross by vehicles related to 
ongoing construction at 314 Harold’s Cross Road and a new development at 200 
Harold’s Cross Road. At both locations trade vehicles are parking entirely on the 
footpath on a regular basis, forcing pedestrians out onto a busy 50km per hour 
road. (See attached images)  
 
Planning documents for at least one location shows that the construction 
management plan does not allow for access via Harold’s Cross Road, yet bicycle 
stands have been removed from the pavement here to allow access via the 
footpath, which is now being used for illegal parking of vehicles. 
 
Motion 14 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
This committee requests that a Parks representative would make themselves 
available to meet with councillors and relevant stakeholders to answer questions 
about the ongoing issues with parks contractors destroying local biodiversity 
initiatives. This has now been reported to me by community groups across the 
Kimmage Rathmines area and beyond, it’s clear that the situation is not 
improving, and a solution needs to be found.  
 
Motion 15 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
That Dublin City Council will anchor a taskforce including relevant stakeholders 
across the Gardaí, social work services, education services, and other relevant 
stakeholders to effect a short- and medium- term strategy which tackle the root 
causes driving violent youth anti-social behaviour in Dublin City, and provide a 
North East Inner City Mulvey Report-type solution for complex social and 



 

economic challenges in the south inner city.  
 
Motion 16 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
That Dublin City Council will ensure the raising of the Sean O'Casey Bridge after 
8 pm each evening until before commuting hours each morning for an initial 
period of 6 weeks in an effort to diminish the attractiveness of the bridge and 
environs for anti-social gatherings and violent behaviour, as it currently provides a 
convenient exit route for gangs who are travelling into the area to engage in 
violent anti-social behaviour which is terrorising the City Quay neighbourhood.  
 
Motion 17 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
This Committee requests an immediate intervention by the Parks Department to 
bring the soccer pitch in Herbert Park up to reasonable playing standards. 
 
The key issues raised by local football clubs include: 
 
Deep appreciation for the hard work of the ever decreasing staff in Herbert Park, 
Request that the grass cutting of the pitch be restored to once a week, 
Request that a programme of repairing multiple holes across the pitch be put in 
place as the present situation is both unsafe and often unsuitable for play, 
Request that the aeration machine that is in Herbert Park be used for the purpose 
it was purchased. 
 
The Committee further requests that the more detailed issues outlined in the letter 
submitted with this Motion be responded to in detail either at a future Area 
Committee meeting or the “On Site” meeting in Herbert Park previously agreed by 
this Committee. 
RE: BELMONT FC - HERBERT PARK GRASS PITCHES 
Good morning Dermot  

 
Thank you for meeting with Andrea, Manuel and myself yesterday evening it was 
good to catch up and was a very beneficial. 

As an introduction, we would highlight to say that Belmont FC are a humble 
community football club based at Herbert Park. Belmont FC has been providing 
boys and girls from the community of Donnybrook and its wider catchment the 
opportunity to have fun through junior soccer for more than thirty years. Our 
players come from a variety of schools in the local area, and we are always 
welcoming of newcomers, whatever their ability. Our ethos is a child-centred one.  
With over 450 boys and girls wearing the Belmont jersey every week we strive to 
provide a safe, positive and encouraging atmosphere that allows our players to 
participate to their potential, irrespective of their abilities. Belmont FC is supported 
by a group of volunteers and coaches who give freely of their valuable time in 
providing a stimulating, challenging, supportive and fun soccer experience to 
children and young people in the Club. 

 
As discussed, our main issues are with the drop on maintenance standards on the 
Herbert Park football pitches. As a result of that the surface is visibly uneven, 
there are multiple holes on the pitches, worn out areas are not repaired, there is a 
lack of aeration regime (even though it is our understanding that a new machine 
was purchase for that particular purpose) and finally, the grass on the pitches is 
not being cut regularly enough resulting on nearly unplayable pitches. In terms of 
general maintenance, there’s visual overgrowth of vegetation in the curtilage of 
the club house and the roof gutters are visibly blocked. 

 
We would like to highlight the genuine effort that DCC operatives in Herbert Park 
are doing under the current restrictions applied as result of Covid. We strongly 



 

belief that there’s not enough manpower in the parks team to cover not Only 
Herbert Park, but other parks such as Bushy Park, Palmerston Park, Belgrave 
Square, Ringsend Park, Sean Moore Park, etc., to name a few.  

 
In addition to the pitch maintenance issues, we would like to say that access to 
additional football pitches would be welcomed anywhere in the area. For the last 
few years, we have struggled to provide our boys and girls with enough pitch 
space in Herbert Park to practice football. We are currently unable to cater for the 
increasing demand to join the club. 

 
As you know we mainly use the Herbert Park grass pitches for matches on 
Saturday but only have one pitch on Sunday. We also have limited pitch space in 
Beechhill on Sunday but only when it suits Beechhill United as they are very 
protective over the pitch and rarely let us play there. As you quite rightly said this 
pitch is completely underutilised. We find ourselves having to travel to Brickfields 
Park, Drimnagh to play our home Sunday matches and we do lose some players 
as a result of this. 

 
We’d need to use the existing pitch space in the Donnybrook/Ballsbridge area 
more efficiently. Building a full-size Astro pitch in the area and perhaps on the 
Beechhill pitch would elevate some of ours and other clubs pitch shortage 
problems. In the meantime, the Council could provide the current pitches with a 
hybrid grass surface (a mixture of natural grass supported by artificial fibres) that 
will be able to accommodate considerably more playing hours than the current 
solution. We are happy to discuss with the Parks department any possible 
solution. 

 
It is great to start the ball rolling (excuse the pun) and thank you again for taking 
the time out of your busy schedule to meet us. 

 
Kind Regards  
 

 
Ciarán Cassidy  
Chairman  
Belmont FC 

 
 
Motion 18 Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to write to O'Callaghan Hotel 
Group to ask them what their plans are for their site on Sandwith Street and if 
they can clean up the site which is has been left to dereliction, there are problems 
of illegal dumping and littering in the area and the residents would like something 
done on this.  
 
Motion 19 Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to outline what measures 
are being undertaken to address the ongoing issue of the misuse of tarmac being 



 

dumped on the footpaths around the South East Inner City as an interim fix which 
is unsightly and a trip hazard. Can the Area Manager please outline why this is 
seems to be the preferred practice of Dublin City Council  rather than proper fixing 
of footpaths and when what can  be done to put an end to this and to fix the 
footpaths in the area properly to make it safer and more attractive?  
 
Motion 20 Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to fix the potholes and road 
surface on Harold’s Cross Bridge as a matter of urgency as this is a safety issue 
for cyclists.  
 
Motion 21 Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee Calls on the Area Manager to convene another meeting 
between the residents, businesses, Dublin City Council, Temple Bar Company, 
the Gardaí and any other relevant stakeholders to address the ongoing issues in 
the area.  
 
Motion 22 Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to please outline the 
reasons why outdoor seating licences are being revoked in the Portobello Area 
and can he provide a full report on the issue, including parking demand studies 
that were carried out on the area. 
 
Motion 23 Councillor Danny Byrne 
This committee agrees to write to the Minister for Housing, to request periods 
such as Christmas and the month of August were planning applications will not be 
allowed to be made. 
We have seen of late attempts to perhaps circumvent oversight of some 
applications. 
 
Motion 24 Councillor Danny Byrne 
That a site visit is made to Denzille Lane to assess residents’ concerns about 
dumping on the lane and waste from commercial premises being inappropriately 
stored.  The site visit should include local residents.  
 
Motion 25 Councillor Mary Freehill 
That this committee examine the strategic decision not to have parks staff/rangers 
in parks.  The consequences of this over the past few years has diminished safety 
in our parks locally. The most recent case being the young boy who was 
physically attacked in Bushy Park.  We agree to consider whether staff need to be 
put back in our parks and report back within a month. 
 

11   Questions to the Chief Executive 10th October 2022   
 

94 - 105 

 



1

Temple Bar Square Area Improvement Scheme

Road Design Division, Environment & 
Transportation Department

P
age 8



2

ProjectOverview

The scheme aims to:

• Upgrade Temple Bar Square to allow for more public  and  cultural activities
• Remove the existing street furniture, trees, outdoor seating terraces
• Provide new street furniture, new tree planting, seating and public lighting
• Extend the square as a single surface across the adjoining streets of Temple Bar, 

Crown Alley and Fownes Street Lower to the adjoining buildings.

A public realm improvement 
scheme for Temple Bar 
Square, and including Crown 
Alley, Temple Bar Street and 
part of Fownes Street Lower 
was granted Part 8 approval 
by Dublin City Council in late 
2017 

P
age 9



• The scheme involves use of high quality materials throughout, as befits such a high 
profile public space

• The Square is to be repaved in modern granite paving to provide a single multi-use 
space

• Historic dolorite setts and granite kerbing will be retained on the surrounding streets

• High Quality hardwood and granite bench seating of varying heights and with and 
without arm rests has been provided to cater for users of all abilities

• A high quality contemporary pole and lantern is proposed Temple Bar Square, with 
building mounted lighting on adjacent streets

• A water bottle filling station similar to that on Clarendon Row is to be provided on the 
Square

• Street furniture such as bollards, sign poles and benches will be of the highest quality 
and will be positioned strategically to prevent clutter and vehicular encroachment 
onto the central portion of the Square 

3

Design

P
age 10



General Layout Temple Bar Square

4

Trees

Bench Seating

Ramp to level surface

Lighting column
Ramp to level surface

Water Bottle Filler

P
age 11



• The existing heritage materials (ie 
granite kerbing and cobbled setts) 
will be retained on Crown Alley and 
Temple Bar Street

• The northern footway on Temple 
Bar is currently sub standard but is 
to be widened to 1800 mm wide to 
provide an accessible route

• Footpaths on Crown Alley are more 
generous and have been retained 
similar to their existing widths

5

Design – Crown Alley and Temple Bar Street

• A grade separation between footpath and carriageway is to be maintained on the 
adjacent streets, ramping to a level surface at each entrance to the Square

P
age 12



Temple Bar Street and Crown Alley

6

New Pedestrian Crossing

Widened Footpath Ramp to level surface

Ramp to level surface Upgraded Pedestrian 
Crossing

Cobbles

P
age 13



Tree Planting

A stand alone tree will be planted in the north east corner of the Square with a 
group of three smaller trees along the western side 

7

Lighting column

P
age 14



Tree Planting

8

Korean Birch Betula Costata (Stand Alone Tree) Field Maple Acer Campestre Elegant (Group of three trees)

A shortlist of tree species was prepared and local Councillors were invited to take part 
in the tree selection process along with the Design Team and Landscape Architect

P
age 15



Art Offering
• The inclusion of an art offering as part of the development has been proposed due to 

the project area’s location within the City’s Cultural Quarter

• Local artist studios and practices were advised of the proposal and asked to 
recommend candidates for consideration

• A selection panel including two local Councillors, the Public Art Officer, Director of the 
Crawford Gallery in Cork and a member of the design team met in February to assess 
the candidates

• The panel overwhelmingly supported one of the candidates, who has been offered a 
direct commission in compliance with procurement rules in relation to public art

• The artist Isabel Nolan (the preferred candidate) has accepted the commission 

9

P
age 16



Art Offering
• The brief was for the artist to develop a two 

dimensional piece that will be integrated into 
the hard landscaping for the scheme

• The area surrounding the stand-alone tree at 
the north east corner of the Square has been 
selected as the location for the piece

• This will create a really interesting set piece in 
conjunction with the larger tree and public 
seating

• The artist is collaborating with the design team 
and specialist stone fabricators to ensure the 
seamless integration of the piece into the space

10

P
age 17



11

Location of the Art Piece

P
age 18



12

Next Steps

• Detailed Design is complete and tender documents for a main contractor are 
currently being internally reviewed

• We are engaging with stakeholders regarding design elements and their 
requirements for maintaining access, receiving deliveries etc. during construction

• We hope to go to tender for a works contractor in October 2022

• Construction is likely to start in Jan/Feb 2023

• Total construction period is likely to be in the region of 12 months

• A dedicated web page containing information about the project, Frequently Asked 
Questions etc. is being developed and will be published once a contractor has 
been appointed

P
age 19



 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
HELD ON MONDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2022 

 
 

 
 
1   Presentation on SHD0015/22: Location Harold's Bridge Court' and No.s 1-3 

Clare Villas, located at Harold's Cross Road & Greenmount Lane, Harold's 
Cross, Dublin 6W. 
Order: Noted. 
 

 

2   Presentation on Planning Application Ref. No. : 4336/22 Location: The Swan 
Centre, Rathmines Road Lower/Castlewood Avenue, Rathmines, Dublin 6, 
extending to Castlewood Terrace, Rathmines, Dublin 6 
Order: Planning application invalid.  No presentation was given. 
 

 

3   Presentation on TAG Matters regarding Bus stop infrastructure for 
BusConnects Network Redesign Routes 
Order: Noted. 
 

 

4   Minutes of the South East Area Committee Meeting held on 11th July 2022 
Order: Agreed. 
 

 

5   Environment and Transportation Department Matters taken with Motion 8 
 

i. Minutes of the Traffic Advisory Group Meeting held on 23rd August 2022. 
Order: Noted. 

 

 

6   Office of City Recovery Public Domain Report 
Order: Noted. 
 

 

7   Planning and Property Development Department Matters 
 

i. Report on proposed disposal of 15 and rear 14 Richmond Street South, 
Dublin 8 to Gordon Properties Limited. 
Order: Agreed to recommend to City Council. 

 

 

8   South East Area Matters 
 

i. Report of the Director of Services Central and South East. 
Order: Noted. 
 

 

Page 20



ii. Naming and numbering request for a development at 23-24, Mountain View 
Avenue, Dublin 6 & rear of Nos. 226-230 Harold's Cross Road: Eachlann 
Radharc an tSléibhe / Mountain View Mews. 
Order: Agreed. 
 

iii. Naming and numbering request for a development at Sandford Lodge, 
Sandford Close, Sandford Road, Dublin 6, Gairdíní Bewley / Bewley 
Gardens. 
Order: Agreed. 
 

iv. Naming and numbering proposal for a development at the former Irish Glass 
Bottle & Fabrizia sites, Poolbeg West, Dublin 4. An Mhonarcha Buidéal 
Gloine / Glass Bottle 
Order: Agreed. 
 

v. Discretionary Fund South East Area Status Report as at 1st September 
2022. 
Order: Noted. 

 
9   Motions 

 
Motion 1 from Councillor Claire Byrne moved for report by Councillor Lacey 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager can he please provide a full 
list of and a response to following: 

Outstanding unfinished road and pathway resurfacing projects that are due 
to be fixed by utility companies in the South East Inner City  
What is the status of each of these projects? 
What are the barriers to completion?  
What is being done to speed these process up to improve road and footpath 
surfaces in the area? 

Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 2 from Dermot Lacey 
This Committee requests the Manager to contact all the relevant utility companies 
and the relevant sections within Dublin City Council who carry out works and 
contract out works with a view to reminding them of their obligation to protect 
protected and heritage structures including public lighting and post boxes following 
the considerable damage caused to such a heritage post box in Sandymount during 
recent Irish Water works.  
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 3 from Dermot Lacey 
This Committee agrees to have an on-site meeting for interested Councillors in 
Herbert Park to discuss upkeep, future plans, use of buildings on the campus, use 
of the allotments and any other item submitted by Councillors. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 4 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
The Office of Public Works circulates Dublin City Council occasionally with list of 
unwanted state properties.  It is agreed that all properties in the South East Area 
be notified to elected members in that area.  
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 5 from Councillor Mary Freehill 

 

Page 21



Notification by a bin company of plan to increase bin charges will have serious 
implications for households, particularly people living alone.  This committee agrees 
that DCC considers developing strategies to help people bin share.  It’s in the 
council’s interest, as the hike in charges risks dumping and incorrect use of litter 
bins.  
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 6 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
Now that Irish Water will be rebranded Uisce Éireann, which is in the spirit of the 
Official Language Act 2021, it’s important that equal emphasis is given to devolved 
service delivery standards and communications to the customer. 
 
This body will take over local authority water services from January 2023, which 
means it will be a national organisation, run centrally from their Cork Office.  
 
Because of the lack of devolved service delivery structures in the proposed Bill, this 
Council agrees to call on the Minister for Housing to ensure that devolved 
accountability for service delivery is included in the Water Services (Amendment) 
No. 2 Bill 2022.  
 
Currently the bill provides for revised accountability auditing to Public Accounts 
Committee in the Dáil.  However, the EU principal of subsidiarity must be respected.  
We need to ensure that the bill includes a mechanism to provide service delivery 
standards and co-operation through elected bodies of local authorities, which are 
the bodies closest to the consumer.  
 
Furthermore the communication structure of co-operation would work best through 
each local authority’s local area committees. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 7 from Councillor Mannix Flynn 
That this SEA meeting of DCC support, in recognition of the outstanding cultural 
contribution that Mr. Dickie Rock has made to the cultural life of this country since 
the 60s with his numerous show bands and musical extravaganza, calling on the 
present Lord Mayor of Dublin to consider honouring Mr. Rock with the Honorary 
Freedom of the City of Dublin.   
Order: Agreed to refer to Protocol Committee. 
 
Motion 8 from Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
The Area Committee recognises that the proposal is seeking to replace the public 
space which has been temporarily lost for the next 2 years at Portobello Square 
and to return some amenity space for young children and families. Portobello Tidy 
Towns estimate 70 young children live within the close neighbouring streets all with 
little to no private outdoor space. 
 
The Area Committee also supports examining the inclusion of a filtered permeability 
measure at a location on Synge Street decided in consultation with residents of 
Synge Street to eliminate the potential for through traffic as part of the trial or a 
separate trial, or as part of a wider traffic study and plan for the entire 
neighbourhood. 
 
The Area Committee acknowledges that Portobello Tidy towns is willing to 
commission and co-fund/fund any necessary traffic studies in conjunction with the 
City Council if that would ensure timely progress.  

Page 22



“A neighbourhood trial to create the ‘Heart of Portobello’ Hello neighbour, We are 
a group of neighbours living on and around Lennox Street in Portobello and we 
believe that one small change could make it an even more enjoyable and safer 
place to live. Acting on behalf of our Portobello & St Kevin’s Tidy Towns, we would 
like to trial the creation of a small pedestrianised space on Lennox Street in front of 
the row of shops - for neighbours to stop and chat and for young children to play! 
Our vision is to: ● create a more vibrant ‘village heart’ for Portobello ● make 
Portobello even friendlier, quieter, cleaner and safer (for both young and old) ● 
reduce speeding on Lennox Street ● stop cars and trucks from using our 
neighbourhood as a short-cut to avoid traffic on the South Circular Road Our goal 
is to trial this ‘village space’ in order to find out if it works, and how to improve it. 
We are seeking your support on this general proposal before we speak with Dublin 
City Council for their support. Please let us know what you think! (Please read 
overleaf…) Our plan is to create this ‘village space’ by initially using lightweight and 
low-cost materials so that we can learn and change the space as everyone gives 
feedback. As a first step we would put up temporary barriers (such as flower 
planters) on Lennox St just before the junctions with Lennox Place and Warren St. 
We would regularly review how it is working out, for example after 1 day, 1 week, 1 
month and 1 year. If the space is as successful as we hope, we would then seek 
for it to be finished in high-quality materials at a point in the future. NOW - Lennox 
Street OUR VISION – Portobello Village.  The Green Box shows the proposed 
Portobello ‘Village Space’. Traffic: The proposal is to stop vehicular traffic from 
using a small section of Lennox St. So cars, trucks and motorbikes: ● would no 
longer drive (and speed!) down the full length of Lennox St ● would no longer turn 
left from Lennox Place onto Lennox St ● would no longer turn right from Warren St 
onto Lennox St. Pedestrians and cyclists would continue as normal. Parking: The 
aim is to design this new community space to maintain car parking for residents 
and spaces for deliveries to the businesses. Who we are: Maria, Chris, Emer and 
Shane, acting on behalf of our Portobello & St Kevin’s Tidy Towns. Contact us by 
email: portobellotidytowns@gmail.com or by phone on 087-7835057.” 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 9 from Councillor Claire Byrne moved for report by Councillor Lacey 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager for an update on the 
negotiations regarding the delivery of 900 social and affordable homes in the 
Poolbeg West SDZ.  Can the Manager outline why works are commencing on the 
site without an agreement in place on these homes as this is a breach of the 
planning agreement? 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 10 from Councillor Claire Byrne moved for report by Councillor Lacey 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to urgently replace the tarmac 
dumped at either end of Castle Street. This has further destroyed this street and its 
new surface.  
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 11 from Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
That the Area Committee will request a formal, in person update on developing the 
Glass Bottle site from Housing, Planning, and the developer to outline the 
timeframes and explain ongoing delays, and in particular to seek assurance that 
the 900 affordable and social housing units will be developed on site, and to discuss 
ancillary matters. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 12 from Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

Page 23



That the Chief Executive will address this Area Committee on the College Green 
plaza project. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Emergency Motion Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to immediately review and 
reverse the recent decisions to remove outdoor furniture and outdoor seating 
licences for from local businesses in the Portobello Area in particular Lennox Street. 
Order: Falls. 
 
 

10   Questions to the Chief Executive 12th September 2022 
Order: Noted. 
 

 

 
 
Chairperson 
Monday 12 September 2022 
 
 
 
Attendance: 
 
Members: Members: Members: 
Dermot Lacey 
Deirdre Conroy 

Danny Byrne 
Claire O’Connor 

Hazel Chu 
Tara Deacy 

Kevin Donoghue Daniel Céitinn Mannix Flynn 
Mary Freehill Pat Dunne Paddy McCartan 
Carolyn Moore 
 

James Geoghegan  

   
   
   

 
Officers   
Owen Keegan 
Darren Brereton 
Brian Hanney 
John MacEvilly 
Jennifer Wall 

Frank Lambe 
Catherine Brophy Walsh 
Neil O Donoghue  
Ray Yeates 
Eileen Buck Harte 
Iva Geci 
 

Helen McNamara 
Maggie O’Donnell,  
Zsolt Szombatfalvi 
Brian Kirk 
Mark Ginnety  

 
Apologies:    
Anne Feeney 
Claire Byrne 

  

 
Non-Members:    
   

 
  

Page 24



Question to the Chief Executive    South East Area Committee  
        Meeting 12th September 2022 
 
Q.1 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager if the area committee could arrange a subsidised or 
complimentary large item collection for the residents of City Quay and Dowling Court 
to compliment efforts by local residents to conduct community enhancement works in 
the area in recent months.  

 
Reply:  
A free household bulky waste collection service is no longer available to any area of 
the city, as a free service is contrary to the core principle that the person(s) generating 
the waste should pay for its disposal regardless of the type of waste being generated. 
The associated costs of this service had also become unsustainable and had reached 
approximately €500,000.00 per year. The service was therefore discontinued, in favour 
of a more flexible and accessible service, which is available on demand all year round, 
and for which households pay a nominal fee, which is currently €40.00. This is already 
a highly subsidised service, as the actual cost of a household collection is 
approximately €100.00.  Residents who avail of the service are effectively being given 
a 60% reduction in costs. 
 
This service was introduced in May 2016 and has proved very popular with the public 
and in a normal full year close to 3000 residents request a collection. Average 
collection time between request and collection taking place is currently 4 -5 days. All 
residents in City Quay and Dowling Court can avail of this service throughout the year. 
Full details of the service are available on the City Council website and any resident 
can go online and book a collection 24/7. 
 

Q.2 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager what clean up procedure plans are in place for events and gigs in 
the Aviva. Residents have reported issues with high levels of littering in the area after 
events take place. 

 
Reply:  
The Aviva Stadium engage Waste Management Services to provide a clean-up crew 
for the agreed area for all events held in the stadium. Depending on the event, half 
time on sports events and 1 hour before the end of concert events, we are instructed 
by Gardaí and stadium management to have our fleet and staff withdrawn from the 
vicinity of the stadium for health and safety reasons for our staff and indeed the 
stadiums’ patrons. Part of our contract is to provide a smaller clean-up crew at 6am 
the morning after an event.  This is to remove any litter left by patrons egressing the 
stadium at the end of an event. This cleaning arrangement is kept under constant 
review to ensure that our cleaning is as effective as possible. 

 
Q.3 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager if there has been any contact from DCC in relation to the 
installation of cameras at City Quay in recent months.  
 
Reply:  
The installation of CCTV in the public realm at City Quay is a matter for An Garda 
Siochána. In recent months the Area Office has been liaising closely with local 
residents and An Garda Siochána in relation to ASB in this area. 

 
Q.4 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

Page 25



To ask the Manager if he can request from the Housing Department (allocations and 
maintenance and any other relevant section ) if they can supply a full narrative on the 
story of (details supplied) a three-bedroom house in a high demand area that has been 
empty now for well over a year since the previous tenant died. The account to give 
details of attempted successor tenancy, maintenance review, issuing of maintenance 
contract, delay in implementation of upgrade, length of time for upgrade works and, in 
particular, to use this review to identify ways in which appalling length of time can be 
improved. 
 
Reply:  
There was issues in getting a proper surrender of tenancy in this case which caused a 
delay, details of which cannot be provided for GDPR reasons. 
 
The surrender was received in May this year and is currently with the framework 
therefore work is ongoing in an effort to prepare the property for reallocation. 
Housing Maintenance received vacant possession of this unit on 29/03/22. Upon the 
completion of a works order by the Area Maintenance Officer, it was issued to a 
contractor on the 22/04/22.  It is envisaged that the works will be complete within the 
next 2-3 weeks.   
 

Q.5 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Manager if this replacement tree around 16 Shrewsbury Road, promised 
numerous times for last autumn can be planted in the next tree planting programme. 
 
Reply:  
The replacement tree was planted and unfortunately the sapling snapped during the 
building works that were ongoing at the adjacent property. Parks Service will order a 
new one for replanting this season. 
 

Q.6 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Manager if he can ensure that the works promised (some details supplied 
with Question) to remove the excess weeds from the promenade wall along Strand 
Road is completed and if further examination will be conducted on how the growing rat 
problem in the same vicinity can be tackled. 
 
A very helpful guy in DCC on 5/7/22 and he advised that the work on removing the 
weeds from the sea wall is on the 'project list' and scheduled to take place in the coming 
weeks. 
 
Reply:  
Strand Road was treated on 30th June as part of the Manual Weed Removal Trial.  The 
seaward side of the wall and promenade would fall within the remit of the Parks 
Department  
 
Parks Service will seek quotations for weeding along the inside section at the 
promenade wall. Given to the scope of the area it may be needed to carry out the work 
in phases depending on the funding available.   
 

Q.7 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Can the Parks Section arrange to prune the tree outside number 8 Clonard Road, 
Crumlin, Dublin 12? This tree is over-growing into the garden and the roots are 
affecting the footpath. 
 
Reply:  
Parks have inspected the above location and are arranging for prices from a contractor 

Page 26



to carry out pruning. We will liaise with our colleagues in Roads Maintenance to get 
the footpath repaired. 
 

Q.8 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Manager if he can ensure that action is taken in relation to details supplied: 
 
Reply:  
There is ongoing liaison between Derelict Sites and the Conservation Section in 
relation to derelict sites which are protected structures or are on the Buildings at Risk 
Register. The Derelict Sites Unit will arrange for an inspection of the site and as this is 
a protected structure will review the findings with the Conservation Section to 
determine the best course of action to address any issues with the site. The 
complainant has received a reply from the Derelict Sites Section and will be kept 
updated. A full report on the assessment of the condition of the site will issue to the 
Councillor. 
 

Q.9 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
This Committee requests the Manager to take action on the following three issues at 
Sean Moore Park and adjacent. 

 
1. Overgrown wooded areas in Sean Moore Park. 

There is a tent hidden from view in the middle of the largest area of overgrown   woods 
at the centre of Sean Moore Park. There is a lot of rubbish in this area now, and 
unfortunately my dog has on several occasions eaten what I am quite sure is human 
faeces near that tent. In fact I have heard several anecdotal references to similar 
experiences other residents have had recently.  
In general, these overgrown wooded areas need to be maintained, or gotten rid of for 
health and safety reasons. I am not talking about the areas of trees with grass 
underneath, just the areas filled with briars and rubbish. 

 Bins - There are almost no bins in Sean Moore Park. There is one at the entrance 
near the beach, and that’s it. As a result, I have noticed a worsening rubbish and dog 
droppings problem. Further to this, there are no bins in the children’s playground, and 
again, there is a growing litter problem. As a side note, there were 2 dog droppings 
bins in the park previously, and we did not understand why these were removed.  

 Beach Road boardwalk - Similar to issue 1a with Sean Moore Park, there is a tent(s) 
beside the boardwalk along beach road, just off the first car park between two 
containers. The area around the tent has been overtaken with an assortment of 
rubbish, toys, garden furniture etc. Again, this is supposed to be a shared recreational 
area, and I feel this is affecting health and safety standards.  

 
On issues 1a and 3 specifically, I am keenly aware of the housing crisis, and am deeply 
empathetic towards people that are in situations like this. However, on this occasion I 
have to raise my concern for public health & safety, especially in shared recreational 
areas where not only residents, but children are affected.  
 
Reply: 
1) The Outreach team is aware of and is engaging with the individual located in Sean 
Moore Park. He is linked in with a local authority outside of Dublin and has been 
advised to either return to his local authority area to seek supports or to accept an 
emergency accommodation placement in Dublin. The situation is being closely 
monitored by Outreach and the DRHE. 
 
Parks staff have not been able to locate the tents referred to in the above question. 
When staff do come across rough sleepers, the issue is reported to homeless services 
who will engage with the occupants in an effort to find alternative accommodation.  

Page 27



 
2) Parks will review the provision of bins in the park and seek to improve provision in 
particular at the playground. 
 
3) The Outreach team is aware of and is consistently engaging with the individual off 
the boardwalk. The individual in question is refusing to engage with services but the 
Outreach team continue to propose offers of emergency accommodation. 
 

Q.10 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager issue a full report with regards the road changes and traffic changes 
that are taking place on Sean Moore Road?  This report to include what consultations, 
if any, took place with local residents? Also, what legislation and acts are used to install 
these works and who and where does the budget come from.  
 
Reply:  
The cycle lane on Sean Moore road was completed in November 2021.  An online 
consultation was held in July 2021. 57 submissions were received. This was 
implemented under Section 37 and 38 of the Road Traffic Act 1994. 
 
An upgrade of an upgrade of an existing junction at Beach Road to provide full MID 
facilities for all users;  a new pedestrian crossing was also installed across Sean Moore 
Road and the slip lane was closed to vehicles in line with DMURS. All changes were 
completed by July 2022. 
 
All changes were fully funded by the NTA. 
 

Q.11 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager issue a full report regarding the ongoing process of the compulsory 
purchase order and or acquisition of property at Exchange Street Lower, Temple Bar? 
 
Reply:  
11 – 14 Exchange Street Lower & 11 Essex Street West Area Compulsory 
Purchase (Residential / Commercial Development) Order 2022. 
 
Requisite documentation for the above CPO has been finalised, formal managerial 
approval to make the CPO has been obtained and the Law Department is currently in 
the process of making the statutory order. When the CPO is made a notice of same 
will be published and the CPO submitted to An Bord Pleanála for confirmation. Affected 
parties will receive individual written notice. 
 

Q.12 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager issue a full report as to what legislation process are being planned 
for Parliament Street with regards suspending traffic on that street?  This report to 
include an absolute legal description of ‘Traffic Free’.  A detailed description of what is 
meant by ‘car free’ and also pedestrianisation.  For instance, will the public be able to 
use the roadway for walking? Will publicans and restaurants be prohibited from 
commandeering the space?  What enforcements processes for a breach of the 
legislation are being considered?  Further, can the manager issue all managerial 
orders and delegations in relation to these proposals for Parliament Street?  
 
Reply:  
A report is currently being prepared regarding Parliament Street which will be brought 
to the October meeting. The report will seek to address the queries raised in this 
question. 

 

Page 28



Q.13 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager supply a detailed report with regards the College Green and Dame 
Street Plaza proposals which have now been cancelled due to the fact that Dublin City 
Council made material changes?  This report to include who was overall responsible 
for this error and why the South East Area Committee and councillors were not 
informed about this prior to it ending up in the media?   
 
Reply: 
In my capacity as Project Manager of College Green Dame Street, I gave a detailed 
update to the Traffic and Transportation SPC on Wednesday 6th September and in 
addition I circulated the following update up-date to all SE Area Councillors on 
Wednesday 7th September.  
 
The development of the city’s public realm and the reinvention of College Green has 
been a longstanding goal for Dublin City Council. In 2018, An Bord Pleanála turned 
down a proposal for College Green, citing concerns relating to “significant adverse 
impacts on pedestrians and on bus transport within the city centre”, while also noting 
that it “considered that the principle of the proposed development is acceptable and 
that it would produce a quality public realm that would significantly enhance the 
amenity and attractiveness of this city centre”.  
 
Since the original 2018 proposal, implementation of the NTA’s Bus Connects Network 
Redesign has commenced, resolving key transportation concerns and opening up new 
opportunities for this location. The expanded College Green Dame Street project is 
Dublin City Council’s revised plan to reinvent the historic city core as a major public 
space at the heart of city. Under these proposals the space will be transformed; 
becoming an attractive, pedestrian-friendly space that prioritises universal accessibility 
and social inclusion, sustainability and greenery, while upholding and enhancing the 
history and heritage of this unique location. Limited local access and timed deliveries 
will be included as part of the proposal.  
 
As the revised scheme is significantly larger than originally proposed, Dublin City 
Council will, have to procure a new Design Team. The previous design, which was well 
received, will be extended to cover the additional area. 
 
It is intended to present a full update to the South East Area Committee once the 
Design Team are appointed in 2023. At that juncture, definitive time lines regarding 
consultation, planning submittal and delivery will have been established. In the 
meantime, the College Green Dame Street Project Team are available to present to 
the South East Area Committee at your convenience. 
 

Q.14 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager follow up with CAB in relation to a motion that was agreed by the 
South East Area requesting the handover of property seized in the Crumlin area that 
was formerly a DCC social home?  Also, can this report also include what other 
properties in the SEA have been seized by CAB that can be utilised by DCC to house 
individuals and families and to use for community amenities? 
 
Reply:  
Dublin City Council will acquire properties from CAB where they are deemed suitable 
for use as social housing. DCC has, in recent years, acquired some properties from 
CAB which have been allocated to tenants from the social housing waiting list.  
  
Information on properties seized by CAB is not shared with the council until the 
decision has been made to put them on the market.  At this point they are offered to 

Page 29



DCC to consider for social housing. Currently there are no CAB properties under 
consideration by DCC for acquisition.   
 

Q.15 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager request that the Iveagh Trust Board and management issue a full 
report regarding the ongoing issues of dilapidation that is occurring on their property 
at Iveagh Trust flats Kevin Street?  Residents here are extremely concerned about the 
buildings disintegration and have reported parts of the structure falling into the square 
in and around the property.  Also, residents have complained about their flats being 
flooded by human waste as well as the impacts of dust and dirt and grime and noise 
that is emanating from the construction site of the former DIT on Kevin Street.   Can 
the manager request a full report with details as to how the Iveagh Trust management 
and Board are addressing these issues?  

 
Reply:  
Dublin City Council has contacted the Iveagh Trust in relation to the matters raised by 
Councillor Flynn and a meeting will take place with the Iveagh Trust and DCC in the 
coming weeks to discuss these issues. The Councillor will be contacted after the 
meeting and advised of the outcome.  
 

Q.16 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager supply a full update on proposals to alter the traffic flows on South 
William Street in order to create more pedestrian space? This report to include what 
consultation and contact has been made with the businesses and the residents in the 
immediate area including those who live in the social housing complex at York Street 
Mercer Street.  Further, what contacts and meetings have been arranged or held with 
the owners of the Grafton Car Park with regards altering the exit point at South William 
Street?  
 
Reply:  
There are no current proposals for South William Street. Councillors will be informed 
of any proposals and consultation with local residents, businesses and the public will 
be held prior to any changes occurring.  
 

Q.17 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager issue a full report with regards the build outs on Lower Stephen 
Street?  This report to include planning infringements with regards premises who are 
not in receipt of planning permission for outdoor seating.  Also, how will DCC manage 
these spaces going forward to ensure that they don't just become locations for alcohol 
consumption and anti-social behaviour? There are many residents who live in this area 
and there are indeed many hotel guests who are constantly disturbed by the activities 
at these locations since they were created. 
 
Reply:  
This matter will be investigated and a reply issued to the councillor within a fortnight. 
 

Q.18 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager contact the owners and managers or Bar 66, formerly The Front 
Lounge, on Parliament Street with regards ongoing unacceptable anti-social behaviour 
and non-management of their outdoor drinking space?  This space at this location has 
cause untold disruption for the families that live above this premises and also for the 
many residents that live on this street and its immediate surroundings.  It is time for 
DCC to consider rescinding the street furniture license unless this premises is properly 
managed.   It is important to note that residents in this area have children and there 
are indeed many elderly residents also in this area.  Also Temple Bar is a residential 

Page 30



area primarily and no licensed premises, restaurant or other business outlet can 
supersede that fact.  The residents have a right for the enjoyment of their homes and 
these premises, licensed and otherwise, have only been created since Temple Bar 
renewal and the noise levels from his particular one and indeed customer behaviour 
in general have become unacceptable. I would ask that the manager also contact 
Temple Bar Company with the view to creating a meeting with the residents of this 
particular location and the management.   While I accept that many people need and 
want a good night out and I support a vibrant night life, that doesn’t necessarily mean 
that we have to hear the noise levels, as many people just want a good night sleep in 
order to go about their work the following day, including bringing their children to 
school.  
 
Reply:  
The matters raised will be examined in the context of the outdoor street furniture and 
existing street furniture licences and appropriate action will be taken. 
 

Q.19 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
What provision has DCC made in the event of electricity blackouts and other energy 
shortages this coming winter, particularly in relation to DCC’s housing estates and flat 
complexes?  
 
Reply:  
Environment Minister Eamon Ryan appeared before the Oireachtas Committee on 
Environment and Climate Action on 30th August 2022 to discuss energy security. In his 
remarks, Minister Ryan set out how the Government intends to mitigate risks to energy 
security and he also announced that a new plan to combat energy poverty is set to be 
published shortly after September’s budget and that the new Action Plan will set out a 
range of measures to be implemented ahead of the coming winter.  
 
Dublin City Council will cooperate with any new plans being developed by Government 
to support energy security and reduce energy poverty and the council will continue to 
roll out our successful Energy Efficiency Retrofitting Programme, which reduces 
unnecessary energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions in the council’s 
housing stock, as well as providing tenants with improved living conditions and offering 
tenants significant money savings in heating costs. 
 

Q.20 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 
To the local area manager and the Chief Executive, on behalf of Milltown Residents’ 
Association. 
 
They have made a submission asking that the rezoning from Z15 to Z12 is rejected for 
Milltown Park and ask for our support. They are aware that the Zoning adaptation is 
being recommended by the CEO Mr. Owen Keegan yet, the land is so needed for 
schooling & open space, playing grounds & ensuring that our wildlife is protected, also 
to help our CO2 emissions. 

 

Page 31



 
Reply: 
The material alterations of the Draft City Development Plan and currently on public 
display and at the time of writing, over 100 submissions have already been made 3 
days out from the closing date.  Development plans are a strategic and a reserved 
function of the council, and issues related to the draft plan can only be considered at 
specified council meetings. 
All submissions received in relation to material alterations will be read; summarised 
and responded to in a Chief Executive Report to be presented to the elected members 
on the 21st of September 2022.  Following consideration of the CE Report, and any 
motions on foot of the report and subsequent responses by the CE; the council will, at 
a special council meeting in the first week of November consider the material 
alterations as to whether they are, or are not, retained in the final document. 
 

Q.21 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to prioritise road resurfacing on the following roads in Donnybrook. 
Victoria Avenue, Auburn Avenue, St Broc’s Cottages and Home Villas.  Permanent 
measures are required rather than short term expedients. 
 
Reply: 
Road Maintenance Services has completed an inspection on site and these roads are 
being put forward for consideration for inclusion in our 2023 Carriageway Resurfacing 
Programme. 
 

Q.22 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to respond to the following issues from a resident in Nutley Park, 
Donnybrook. 
 
He writes, 
 
"We live in Nutley Park and my goal is for the boys to be able to cycle to school. I 
commute to work by bike daily myself, whatever the weather, however you are 
probably well aware that the lanes, where they exist are not fit for purpose. 
 

Page 32



The bike lane from Teresian's to Donnybrook Garage has disintegrated. I have to cycle 
in the bus lane as I've suffered several punctures on my road bike in recent months. It 
is a really important section being off-road, however even more important is the 
transition from there over the Dodder Bridge and along the main road opposite Energia 
Park. This is crying out for segregated bike lanes given the traffic volumes, with more 
now going to rat run down Eglinton and around the back of the Circle K Garage. 
 
Do you know what plans and construction timetables are in place to even refurbish the 
existing bike lane, and ultimately what safer designs are coming down the tracks? This 
all needs to happen ASAP. I witness about 10-20 serious traffic infractions every 
morning on my 6km commute to Smithfield...everything from broken red lights, illegal 
parking in bus and bike lanes, turning with no indicators, cars sitting in yellow 
boxes/half encroached onto junctions, etc. etc. Not once, in 3 years of cycling to town, 
have I seen a Garda Traffic Unit post up in the village to police this, or even someone 
from Donnybrook Garda station standing outside policing the bus lane.  
 
We all deserve safer roads, including drivers, but most especially for my kids and their 
future. As it stands, there's no way I'd ever let them hop on a bike to school. We don't 
even have a pedestrian light to get from Nutley Park to the other side of the junction at 
RTE!" 
 
Reply: 
Road Maintenance Services has completed an inspection on site and the inbound 
cycle lane between Teresian School and Donnybrook Garage will be put forward for 
consideration for inclusion in our 2023 Carriageway Resurfacing Programme. 
 
The National Transport Authority plan to submit an application to An Board Pleanála 
for the Bray to City Centre Bus Connects scheme later this year.  
Bus connects are planning to upgrade the junction at Donnybrook Rd/Beaver Rd by 
adding pedestrian crossings on all arms and provide cycling facilities through the 
junction. Bus connects have confirmed to me that its planned to construct the junction 
similarly to what appeared in the latest round of public consultation. 
 
I have forwarded the comments re enforcement to the Gardaí Roads Policing Unit in 
Dublin Castle.  

 

Page 33



 
 
 

Q.23 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to respond to a request for a zebra crossings in Sandymount 
Village. 
 
He writes, 
"I am asking you to petition the council for the implementation of zebra crossings at 
certain key locations in Sandymount Village.  I have personally experienced and 
observed people, particularly the elderly having difficulty crossing at junctions in the 
village because of the cars disregarding pedestrians crossing as well as cars illegally 
parking at these junctions thereby reducing visibility for pedestrians and cars because 
of cars disregarding pedestrians crossing as well as cars illegally parking at these 
junctions thereby reducing visibility for    pedestrians and cars. Reminding 
and    emphasizing to drivers that pedestrians have right of way at junctions with a 
main road is   important   for pedestrian safety. I have lived in Sandymount all my life 
and this has consistently been an issue when traversing the village. I was almost hit 
today   by someone quickly coming around     a corner from Sandymount road to 
Marine drive as I was in the middle of crossing the road. This person beeped at me 
when I had the right of way and he was being reckless. I have experienced and seen 
incidents like this. The key junctions which could benefit from zebra crossings in the 
village are the following.  

 The junction of Marine Drive with Sandymount Road,  
 The junction of Claremont Road with Sandymount Green,  
 The junction of Seafort Avenue with Sandymount Green, 

 
Reply: 
DCC currently have 3 zebra crossings installed in the city.  Currently a subcommittee 
of the Transport SPC is reviewing the option of installing further zebra crossings in the 
city.  Issues being investigated by the committee include current legislation 
requirements for an installation and user experiences, particularly from a disability 
group perspective.  The locations provided will be added to list of possible locations if 
the committee agree to install further zebra crossings.  
 

Q.24 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

Page 34



To ask the manager to respond to the request from a resident on Pembroke 
Road Ballsbridge for extra litter bins. 
 
She writes, 
 
"I live on Pembroke Road Ballsbridge, at the Lansdowne Hotel and Searsons 
end.  Our problem is that this is the route taken by most people walking to the 
Aviva, and there’s not enough litter bins along this route for people to dispose 
of all the take away fast food containers, cans, bottles, glasses etc. so they 
throw them into our gardens or place them among the hedges etc. I just heard 
they are resuming the American College football games for the Aviva this Sept, 
16,000 people expected, I can just imagine the amount of litter that’s going to 
end up on our lawns and street." 

 
Reply: 
Waste Management Services will have two temporary blue barrels placed at this end 
of Pembroke Road when there are events in the Aviva Stadium to cater for the extra 
litter generated there at those times. 
 

Q.25 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to respond to three issues from a constituent. 
 
He writes, 
 

1. Overgrown wooded areas in Sean Moore Park. 
a. There is a tent hidden from view in the middle of the largest area of 

overgrown woods at the centre of Sean Moore Park. There is a lot of 
rubbish in this area now, and unfortunately my dog has on several 
occasions eaten what I am quite sure is human faeces near that tent. 
In fact I have heard several anecdotal references to similar 
experiences other residents have had recently.  

b. In general, these overgrown wooded areas need to be maintained, or 
gotten rid of for health and safety reasons. I am not talking about the 
areas of trees with grass underneath, just the areas filled with briars 
and rubbish. 
 

Bins - There are almost no bins in Sean Moore Park. There is one at the 
entrance near the beach, and that’s it. As a result, I have noticed a worsening 
rubbish and dog droppings problem. Further to this, there are no bins in the 
children’s playground, and again, there is a growing litter problem. As a side 
note, there were 2 dog droppings bins in the park previously, and we did not 
understand why these were removed.  
 
Beach Road boardwalk - Similar to issue 1a with Sean Moore Park, there 
is a tent(s) beside the boardwalk along Beach Road, just off the first car park 
between two containers. The area around the tent has been overtaken with 
an assortment of rubbish, toys, garden furniture etc. Again, this is supposed 
to be a shared recreational area, and I feel this is affecting health and safety 
standards.  

Reply: 
1) The Outreach team is aware of and is engaging with the individual located in Sean 
Moore Park. He is linked in with a local authority outside of Dublin and has been 
advised to either return to his local authority area to seek supports or to accept an 
emergency accommodation placement in Dublin. The situation is being closely 
monitored by Outreach and the DRHE. 

Page 35



 
Parks staff have not been able to locate the tents referred to in the above question. 
When staff do come across rough sleepers, the issue is reported to homeless services 
who will engage with the occupants in an effort to find alternative accommodation.  
 
2) Parks will review the provision of bins in the park and seek to improve provision in 
particular at the playground. 
 
3) The Outreach team is aware of and is consistently engaging with the individual off 
the boardwalk. The individual in question is refusing to engage with services but the 
Outreach team continue to propose offers of emergency accommodation. 
 

Q.26 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to respond to the following email from a constituent. In her email 
she writes to me: 
 
"Myself and my business partner and I recently established a new company operating 
as details supplied. Our business runs 6 week workshops where we offer baby 
bonding, toddler bonding and also parenting classes. 
 
We are currently looking for suitable premises to run our workshops and classes and 
think that “The Hive” in Herbert Park, Ballsbridge would be perfect for our 
requirements.  
 
We contacted the Dublin City Council who manage the park and the facility and were 
told that there are no plans to make “The Hive” operational for the foreseeable future. 
 
We both think this is a terrible waste of a great community facility which could greatly 
aid our entrepreneurial efforts. 
 
We would be happy to pay a reasonable rate for usage of the facility and was hoping 
you may be able to offer us assistance in regard to this matter." 
 
Reply: 
The Hive Herbert Park is now available for hire, all enquiries should be directed to 
parkevents@dublincity.ie 
 

Q.27 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to respond to the following email from a constituent. 
 
She writes, 
 
"Dublin City Council have done good work this summer catching up on mending and 
resurfacing areas of Ballsbridge, Sandymount, and elsewhere among its many duties). 
That is commendable. 
 
Yet year in year out, Oaklands Park in Sandymount-Ballsbridge is ignored.  The road 
runs off the busy Serpentine Avenue - Tritonville Road route and for some reason it is 
bypassed. 
Oaklands Park is to the right of Serpentine Ave, it starts at Herbert Green (6-8 small 
modern houses) running in the form of a long U turn ending at the DART junction. 
Oaklands Drive is a cul-de-sac at the Herbert Green end. 
 

Page 36

mailto:parkevents@dublincity.ie


The road is dangerous, lumpy, potholed and uneven. The majority of houses are 
occupied by families (everything from nurses to IT workers, doctors and solicitors) with 
children in crèches, primary and post primary school. 
 
All of the road needs resurfacing to make it safer for the children and adults on 
bicycles."  
 
Reply:  
Road Maintenance Services has completed an inspection on site and Oaklands Park 
is being put forward for consideration for inclusion in our 2023 Carriageway 
Resurfacing Programme. 
 

Q.28 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to seek a report from An Post re damage to a post box on Gilford 
Avenue. 
 
A constituent writes: 
"Some weeks ago during the Irish Water works taking place on Gilford Avenue, a 
historic post-box was badly damaged. It is more than a 100-year-old post-box, dating 
to when King Edward VII ruled. 
  
Because of the damage, the post-box was removed, the cylinder was broken up, and 
An Post has said that the old door will be attached to a new style box. One of the 
neighbours had thought that it could be welded back together but it was very quickly 
removed and broken down and so it seems like it will be moved forward with the old 
door on the new box. We recognise that nothing can be done at this point, but we 
wanted to highlight that this type of destructive action should not be occurring." 

 
Reply: 
Under the conditions of road opening licences, all licence holders including utility 
companies, building contractors and DCC Divisions, have obligations with respect to 
street furniture and heritage assets.  These licence holders are aware of these 
obligations and protocols are in place if damage to these assets occurs.  
 
With respect to the post box that was damaged on Gilford Road at its junction with 
Gilford Avenue, Irish Water’s contractor have reported in response to this motion as 
follows: 
 
“A post box was damaged next to the job site on Monday 25th July on Gilford Road, 
the post box is at the Junction of Gilford Avenue. The damage occurred whilst we were 
lifting a stick of 450mm pipe into the trench and the tail of the excavator pushed the 
Herris fence and broke the post box next to the fencing. Paul Kelly a representative 
from An Post was out to assess the damage. He was happy enough for us to remove 
the post box on Tuesday morning under his supervision and they will try to source 
another that is correct to the time period. Below is a photo of the damage and the 
location marked with the red X. The post box was removed on Tuesday morning as 
shown in the photo.” 
 

Page 37



  

 
 
Following on from the above a replacement Post Box has been sourced by An Post, it 
is being concreted in place on 11th August  and will be available on 12th August for An 
Post to approve and commission. A photo of the replacement Post Box to be provided 
once it is operational.  
 
 
All utility companies and their contractors are responsible for ensuring that they are 
adequately insured when carrying out roadworks in the public domain to safeguard 
against accidental damage to both public and private property and are also requested 
to indemnify Dublin City Council with a minimum of €6.5m for a single incident/claim. 
Indemnification is required in respect of all claims, proceedings, liabilities, losses or 
expenses of whatever nature. 
 
In addition to the above a special notice will also be added to the Roadworks Control 
Online website reminding all utility applicants of their obligations to protect all heritage 
structures while working in Dublin City Council’s administrative area. 
 

Page 38



Q.29 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to arrange for bins on the lane way between the Aviva Stadium 
and the Dodder to be emptied on a regular basis. 
 
See pic below. 
 

 
 

Reply: 
Waste Management Services will ensure that the bins on the above mentioned 
laneway are emptied on a regular basis. 
 

Q.30 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Can the Manager arrange for the street sign at the corner of Old County Road and 
Clonard Road to be reinstated? The official Old County Road street sign at this location 
would appear to have been removed when the business premises erected new 
panelling and signage. 
 
Reply: 
Road Maintenance visited this location today and noted that the nameplate has been 
removed. A new nameplate will be ordered and installed in its place. 

 
Q.31 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can the Manager arrange for planter boxes to be placed at the entrance to Kildare 
Park?  These planter boxes can have a dual purpose firstly to enhance the area and 
secondly to discourage illegal parking close to the corner at the entrance of the estate. 
At a recent incident there a fire tender truck had a difficulty entering this cul-de-sac due 
to illegal parking at the entrance.  
 
Reply: 
The budget for the provision of planters is now exhausted. These items are rolled out 
in the Crumlin area with the cooperation and assistance of the Crumlin Community 
Clean Up Group who would need to be consulted.  There is currently a backlog of 
twenty similar requests for the Crumlin area that will not start to be fulfilled until spring 
2023. It should be noted, planters are placed to enhance the visual amenity of a space 
and should not be used as a parking restriction measure as this only leads to conflict 
among residents, businesses and their customers. 
 
Dublin City Council does not install street furniture (such as planter boxes) on footpath 
to prevent illegal parking. There is a parking restriction in place to combat illegal 
parking on the corners. According to The Road Traffic (Traffic & Parking) Regulations, 
Section 36 paragraph (2) (c); “A vehicle shall not be parked within 5 metres of a road 
junction;” Infringements should be reported to Dublin Street Parking Services tel. no. 
01 6022500 or the Gardaí as they occur. However, the Area Engineer will investigate 
if further parking restrictions are required on Kildare Park. 
 
Dublin Street Parking Services will patrol the area and enforce any illegal parking 
observed. 
 

Q.32 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Page 39



Can the Manager arrange for planter boxes to be placed at the corner of Old County 
Road and Clonard Road opposite the shops?  These planter boxes can have a dual 
purpose firstly to enhance the area and secondly to discourage illegal parking close to 
the corner and adjacent drives.  Residents at this location report that access in and out 
to their drives can often be blocked with vehicles illegally parking at this location.  
 
Reply: 
The budget for the provision of planters is now exhausted. These items are rolled out 
in the Crumlin area with the cooperation and assistance of the Crumlin Community 
Clean Up Group who would need to be consulted.  There is currently a backlog of 
twenty similar requests for the Crumlin area that will not start to be fulfilled until spring 
2023. It should be noted, planters are placed to enhance the visual amenity of a space 
and should not be used as a parking restriction measure as this only leads to conflict 
among residents, businesses and their customers. 
 
Any consideration of installing planters will need to be also be considered by our Traffic 
Department for safety purposes. 
 
Dublin City Council does not install street furniture (such as planter boxes) on footpath 
to prevent illegal parking. There is a parking restriction in place to combat illegal 
parking on the corners. According to The Road Traffic (Traffic & Parking) Regulations, 
Section 36 paragraph (2) (c) (g) (i); “A vehicle shall not be parked within 5 metres of a 
road junction;”, “A vehicle shall not be parked in any place, position or manner that will 
result in the vehicle obstructing an entrance or an exit for vehicles to or from a 
premises, save with the consent of the occupier of such premises;”, “A vehicle shall 
not be parked on a footway, a grass margin or a median strip;”. Infringements should 
be reported to Dublin Street Parking Services tel. no. 01 6022500 or the Gardaí as 
they occur. However, the Area Engineer will investigate if further parking restrictions 
are required at the junction of Clonard Road with Old County Road. 
 
Dublin Street Parking Services will patrol the area and enforce any illegal parking 
observed. If a vehicle is obstructing a private drive way, it can be reported directly to 
Dublin Street Parking Services for enforcement action. 
 

Q.33 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Can the Manager arrange for the traffic island kerbs be repainted yellow and black at 
the following locations?   They are in poor condition. 
 

Crumlin Road (Loreto College Entrance) 
Crumlin Road (Opposite Maxol Garage Dolphin Barn) 
Crumlin Road (Bangor Drive junction) 
Cashel Road (at Kildare Road Junction) 
 Sundrive Road (opposite Grian Cafe) 
 Ferns/Stannaway Junction 
 Windmill Road (at Kildare Road Junction) 
 Lower Kimmage Road (opposite Al's Bakery) 
 KCR Junction 

Reply: 
The matter will be examined and a reply issued to the councillor. 
 

Q.34 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Can the Parks Section work with the Roads Maintenance Section to have a safety 
railing installed outside the new main gate to Eamonn Ceannt Park on Sundrive Road?  
The new entrance has been well received by park users in general, but the long avenue 
is used constantly as a long ‘racetrack’ to the gate by families with children as they 

Page 40



leave the park.  The old gate had a safety feature in that running/cycling/scooting 
children had to stop at the kissing gates.  The new design leaves them open to running 
straight out onto the path and into traffic.  Can a rail be installed on the roadside to 
prevent any potential accidents? 
 
Reply: 
Parks have deliberately left the gate at an angle to slow down speeds of exiting and 
entering people. Parks will liaise with our colleagues in E&T to see if a safety barrier 
can be constructed on the footpath outside. 
 

Q.35 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Can the Manager contact the Road Maintenance Section on behalf of details supplied?  
He has mobility issues and was recently granted a disability parking spot outside his 
house by DCC which has made a huge difference to him being able to park outside 
his house. 
The issue he has is cars turning from Kildare onto Cashel at speed. He said they are 
treating it as a bend in the road as opposed to a turn where a car should slow down.  
As he lives in the first block of houses quite close to the turn, he is getting anxious 
trying to get into his car and pulling off. He has asked if the footpath could be widened, 
the same as what was done at the junction of Kildare and Bangor road many years 
ago to slow down drivers or is there another solution to this problem. 
 
Reply: 
There is no plan currently by Dublin City Council to install buildouts at the corner of 
Kildare Road and Cashel Road. However, this location will be added to the list of 
pedestrian crossings for consideration for the following year’s programme of works. It 
should be noted that due to budgetary constraints, the amount of funding available for 
pedestrian crossings is limited and there are several locations currently seeking 
funding. 
 

Q.36 Councillor Pat Dunne 
To ask the Manager are the grass cutting contactors employed by the Parks Section 
obliged to pick up litter on the grass prior to and after cutting and if so are there any 
fines or penalties applied should they fail to do so. 
 
Reply: 
The 2022-2025 contract requires the contractors to litter pick areas under their remit 
each week prior to cutting the grass.  
 
The contract sets out robust procedures for managing reports of failures to comply with 
contract service requirements.  All complaints are comprehensively investigated 
liaising as necessary with contract representatives.  
 
Financial penalties, in the form of reduced monthly payments, can be considered 
should the particulars of the complaint warrant such an approach but Dublin City 
Council will seek to have outstanding works or other service failures completed in the 
first instance. 

 
Q.37 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can the Manager ask the Traffic Section to install a pedestrian crossing outside 
SuperValu on Sundrive Road and also can I be given a revised timeframe for the 
promised installation of pedestrian lights at the Sundrive Road /Stannaway junction, 
the Sundrive Road/Ferns Road junction and the Sundrive Road /Clogher Road 
junction? 
 

Page 41



Reply: 
There is no plan currently by Dublin City Council to install controlled pedestrian 
crossing at the SuperValu entrance on Sundrive Road as there are control pedestrian 
crossings in both direction within 110 metres from this entrance. However, this location 
will be added to the list of pedestrian crossings for consideration for the following year’s 
programme of works. It should be noted that due to budgetary constraints, the amount 
of funding available for pedestrian crossings is limited and there are several locations 
currently seeking funding. 
 
According to the latest update on Future Works Programme (Package 8 Lot 1), the 
estimated start of construction is Q4 2022 for the following junctions: 
 

 Stannaway Road / Sundrive Road 

 Clogher Road / Sundrive Road 

 Sundrive Road / Ferns Road 
 

Q.38 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Can the Manager ask the Parks Section to install outdoor calisthenics gym equipment 
into a park in Crumlin, perhaps Pearse Park? 
 
Reply: 
Eamonn Ceannt Park received outdoor calisthenics gym equipment last year. If there 
is demand for additional locations then Parks can pursue this in the context of 2023 
budgets. 
 

Q.39 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Could the manager arrange a meeting be undertaken between council parks, Gardaí, 
Jackpott Bingo and local residents’ groups to see how the Pearse Park laneway can 
be improved? The space is a destination for illegal dumping and activity and a multi-
faceted approach may be the best way to tackle this. 
 
Reply: 
This laneway is not under the care of the Parks Department. While Parks are happy to 
attend a meeting of this nature it would be important for some other sections in DCC 
to also attend e.g. waste management.  
 
A meeting will be arranged with relevant stakeholders to see if anything can be done 
to improve the situation at this location. 
 
Waste Management Services are happy to attend a meeting of this nature and I can 
be contacted to ensure we have a representative at any such meeting. 
 

Q.40 Councillor Tara Deacy 
A number of residents from St. Teresa’s Road have been in contact regarding the 
sharp bend on this road and the speed at which cars are coming onto this road from 
Stannaway Avenue. They are concerned at this high speed and the risk it is posing for 
their families. They have requested that a speed ramp be installed at this dangerous 
junction as soon as possible.  
 
Reply: 
Following site visit by the TAG Area Engineer, it was noted that this narrow road is 
traffic calmed by the presence of five speed ramps at the appropriate distances apart 
for optimum traffic calming. St. Teresa’s Road is covered by the 30 km/h Slow Zone 
sign (F 403), indicating the lower speed limit and that the area is a Home Zone/Slow 

Page 42



Zone, which warns motorists that it is a residential area and to expect children and is 
clearly marked at the entrance from Kimmage Road West. However, it is 
recommended to install a 30 km/h road marking at the entrance on St. Teresa’s Road 
from Stannaway Avenue to enhance the current 30 km/h speed limit signage for the 
area and two “SLOW” road markings (M 106) to increase the driver awareness near to 
the park entrances (approx. in front of house No. 28/30 and 54/56).   
 
The Transport Advisory Group at its meeting in August, therefore, recommended the 
installation of 30KPH road markings at the entrance on St. Teresa’s Road.  This is with 
the Traffic Officer for installation.  
 

Q.41 Councillor Tara Deacy 
A resident from Clareville Road has highlighted the removal of several bike locking 
posts which were roughly between 197 - 205 Harold's Cross Road (just past the 
Centra).  They gather these were removed at some stage during July, why were they 
removed and are there plans to replace or upgrade them in the near future?  
 
Reply: 
The cycle stands were removed to facilitate the building project at 199 Harold’s Cross 
Road and they will be reinstated when the project is completed. 
 

Q.42 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Windmill Road/Pearse Park, Crumlin.  There are a number of issues that need 
attention in Windmill Road/Pearse Park: 

 Can nettles in and around entrance to Pearse Park be cleared? See photo 
attached.  

o Can DCC plant some wildflowers here? Can the gates be oiled? 
o Can the barrier be replaced which was damaged when a stolen car was 

driven into it?  
o Can we request that the ESB paint their boxes near entrance? 
o Can something be urgently done to address open drug dealing in park? 

Can this be raised with local Gardaí? 
o Is the sand in sandpit in Pearse Park playground regularly cleaned? 

 
 
Reply: 
Parks no longer treat weeds with herbicide in an effort to reduce toxic chemical use as 
supported by the council. As a result weeds will be more evident in the public realm.  
Parks have scheduled to cut back areas of naturalised grass over the coming weeks 

Page 43



and have also planned to incorporate an area of wildflower in the park. The playground 
is cleaned daily. Gardaí and Parks are aware of the ongoing issue with drug dealing in 
the park. – Parks will liaise with Area Office in relation to ESB boxes and Roads in 
relation to damaged barrier. 
 
The appropriate utility company will be contacted to ask them to paint their service box. 
 
The pedestrian barrier has been sent to our maintenance contractors for replacement. 
 

Q.43 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Can the trees and bushes in Ravensdale Park be trimmed back again?  I know I had 
requested this to be done a number of weeks ago, but people are having to duck down 
to get through the park on the footpath and while it is easier for some park users, those 
using wheelchairs and buggies are finding it more difficult. There are only 2/3 trees 
that need attention.  Can the nettles at the wall also be trimmed back, they are 
completely overgrown? 
 
Reply: 
Parks will arrange for this work to be scheduled in the coming weeks. 
 

Q.44 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Could the current list of roads / footpaths to be considered for the next roads budget 
be provided? 
 
Reply: 
Drafts of our 2023 Carriageway Resurfacing Programme and Footpath Renewal 
Programme will be prepared later this year when budget information is available and 
funding priorities are identified. 
 

Q.45 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Park Crescent  

 Many of the trees/branches on or around Park Crescent/Lorcan O'Toole Park 
are hanging exceptionally low, meaning one has to duck under them to walk 
through (or else walk out onto the road to get past.) In some spaces, this is 
safe; in others, it just dangerous and irritating. 

 A number of trees on Park Crescent have been planted alongside lampposts 
and have now grown into the lamp area. This now blocks the lamps light 
significantly when in leaf. The road is dark at night as a result. Can the trees be 
pruned to allow the light to return as intended? Matter has been previously 
flagged with council without reply. 

 Green area needs cutting back and tidied. Trees at the entrance of the crescent 
damaged tree outside number 7 covered in ivy. 

 
Reply: 
Works outlined above has been scheduled for the next few weeks. 
 

Q.46 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Could the junction and Cashel and Kildare Road be narrowed or made safer for 
pedestrians to cross?  It is so wide; it is difficult to do so at the moment. 
 
Reply: 
There is no plan currently by Dublin City Council to install buildouts at the corner of 
Kildare Road and Cashel Road. However, this location will be added to the list of 
pedestrian crossings for consideration for the following year’s programme of works. It 

Page 44



should be noted that due to budgetary constraints, the amount of funding available for 
pedestrian crossings is limited and there are several locations currently seeking 
funding. 
 

Q.47 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Would it be possible to get the bollards at the side of Wolfe Cycles repaired? They are 
in terrible condition.  31 Sundrive Road is the location. 
 
Reply: 
These bollards have been replaced with new bollards. 
 

 
 

 
 

Q.48 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Due to the good weather, many of the green spaces and trees look in poor condition. 
What processes are in place to ensure that trees and planting remains healthy and are 
additional resources required to ensure this happens? This problem is likely to continue 
for upcoming years. 
 
Reply: 
Parks have carried out watering on a selection of newly planted trees however do not 
have the resources to water all recently planted trees. The conditions experienced this 
past summer and indeed preceding spring and winter have been exceptionally dry and 
will offer challenges to Parks going forward if they continue. 
  

Page 45



Watering on a prolonged basis is not sustainable either and Parks will look to review 
the species of trees that we plant and may need to reduce the number of trees planted 
in order to ensure they establish successfully. There are many types of plants that are 
adapted to drought conditions and these can be selected for herbaceous schemes. 
The recent rainfall will allow grass to recover. 
 

Q.49 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
In light of there being ample parking available at several locations in Terenure village, 
and with schools returning this month, can the area manager look at improving safety 
in the village, and offering a safe route to schools, by providing a 24hr segregated cycle 
lane on Terenure Road North instead of a clearway?  There is no regular enforcement 
here of illegal parking outside of clearway hours and this is an ongoing problem which 
is putting vulnerable road users at risk. 
 
Reply: 
There are two DCC projects that deal with safety around schools associated with 
traffic. The School Zone Project and The Safe Routes to School Project.  Both Projects 
are funded by the National Transport Authority and their delivery is subject to the 
availability of staffing resources within Dublin City Council and the availability of 
external resources to take up tender applications.  Applications for School Zones and 
Safe Routes to School were taken during 2020 and 2021 and are now closed.  The 
schools in the vicinity of Terenure Village which are being dealt with under these school 
mobility projects are as follows.  
 
Stratford College and Stratford National School Zion Road is a School Zone and a 
Safe Routes to School Round 1 applicant. They are currently undergoing a concept 
design for front of school gate safety improvement works. They have been assessed 
by Green Schools using a parent travel survey. They have been assessed by the DCC 
School Mobility Officer and NTA appointed engineering consultant. Recommendations 
have also been obtained for School Warden crossing requirements.  
 
Joseph’s Boys National School Terenure road East, D6W, 
Presentation Primary School, Terenure Rd West D6W  
Presentation Community College Terenure Park Dublin 6W are all Safe Routes to 
School Round 2 applicants. They will be assessed when all 27 SRTS Round 1 are 
commenced across the city.  
 
Dublin Street Parking Services will be instructed to patrol the area and enforce any 
illegal parking observed. 
 

Q.50 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
Can the area manager recommend a suitable intervention to prevent people parking 
right on the bends on Blarney Park (see attached)? This issue is ongoing and causes 
serious problems with visibility of oncoming traffic, as well as blocking safe passage 
on the footpaths. On other streets where this is a persistent problem, bollard-protected 
clear ways have been installed, or planter boxes have been positioned on the bends 
to prevent parking - could such a solution be implemented here?  

Page 46



 
 
Reply: 
Dublin City Council does not install street furniture (such as planter boxes or bollards) 
on footpath to prevent illegal parking. There are parking restrictions in place to combat 
illegal parking on corners. According to The Road Traffic (Traffic & Parking) 
Regulations, Section 36 paragraph (2) (c); “A vehicle shall not be parked within 5 
metres of a road junction.”  
 
Infringements should be reported to Dublin Street Parking Services tel. no. 01 6022500 
or the Gardaí as they occur. However, the Area Engineer will investigate if further 
parking restrictions are required at the junction on Blarney Park. 
 
Dublin Street Parking Services will patrol the area and enforce any illegal parking 
observed. 
 

Q.51 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
Can the area manager engage with the Active Travel Office and Parks to look at 
incorporating a greening strategy into the extensive pedestrian upgrade now taking 
place along the Grand Canal?  With build outs and road reconfiguration taking place 
this would be an ideal opportunity. 
 
Reply: 
Dublin City Council and the National Transport Authority have appointed a contractor 
to construct a programme of pedestrian and cyclist safety improvements along the 
Grand Canal. The work involves the upgrade of seven major and seven minor junctions 
on a 3.8km section of the Grand Canal from Suir Road/Slievenamon Road to Leeson 
Street. Work began on site in June 2022 and the programme of works is due to last 12 
months. 
The project consists of a number urgent improvements to make the junctions along the 
canal safer for pedestrians trying to cross.  
The project’s primary objective is to make the crossing points shorter and safer for 
vulnerable road users, particularly the visually impaired. The design team has been 
looking to included planted areas along this scheme. However, the opportunity to 
create new planted areas is limited by need to maintain the desired line for pedestrians, 
adequate footpath widths and aids for the visually impaired.  
The area along Dolphin Road, Slievenamon Road and Parnell Road also features a 
large number of driveways. Access needs to be maintained to these driveways and 
this is also a significant obstacle to introducing planted areas. The designers have 

Page 47



identified some possible greening along the route and are working with Parks & 
Landscapes Dept. to come up with a suitable landscape design.  
 

Q.52 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
Can the area manager give an update on the status or timeline for a pedestrian 
crossing on upper Rathmines Road at Church Avenue, which received funding in 
2021?  A safe crossing point is badly needed at this stretch, near where schools are 
located and where cars tend to take the bend at high speed. 
 
Reply: 
Kildare Place School, 96 Upper Rathmines Road is a Safe Routes to School Round 
1 applicant and a School Zone applicant. Dublin City Council is providing schools with 
works to improve safety at the school gate through the National Transport Authority 
funded School Zones and the Safe Routes to School Programme. The School Zone 
project commenced in 2020. The Safe Routes to School (SRTS) Programme was 
launched by the Government in March 2021.  
 
Both projects aim to create safety for children walking and cycling to school.   
A concept design is being prepared for front of school treatment under a current 
prioritisation with the National Transport Authority to advance any Safe Route to  
 
School applicants who have not received School Zones as part of DCC’s first 
application of School Zones during 2020 and 2021.   
  
A site visit and interview with the school principal of Kildare Place School was 
conducted in June 2022 by Dublin City Council’s School Mobility Officer and by a 
National Transport Authority appointed engineer. The information obtained from this 
initial assessment is being used for the concept design which should be produced by 
end September 2022. Dublin City Council has committed to progress school safety at 
the gate improvement works for this schools by the end of 2022.  

 
Q.53 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if traffic engineers can provide a suitable intervention to 
prevent pavement parking at what is supposed to be a drive through food yard at the 
old Kenilworth Motors location on Harold’s Cross Road. See attached. 

Page 48



 
 
Reply: 
There are parking restrictions in place to combat illegal parking on footpath. According 
to The Road Traffic (Traffic & Parking) Regulations, Section 36 paragraph (2) (g); “A 
vehicle shall not be parked on a footway, a grass margin or a median strip.”  
Infringements should be reported to Dublin Street Parking Services tel. no. 01 6022500 
or the Gardaí as they occur. The Area Engineer will investigate if any interventions can 
be provided on Harold’s Cross Road. 
 
Dublin Street Parking Services will patrol the area and enforce any illegal parking 
observed. 

 
Q.54 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if bins can be installed on Palmerston Road? There are 
currently no bins between the canal and Palmerston Park if walking along 
Mountpleasant Avenue and Palmerston Road - a circa 2km stretch very popular for 
walkers and where people can very easily pick up food or beverages on the go. At 
least one bin mid-route is a basic necessity for the area.  
 
Reply: 
Waste Management Services are currently surveying the above mentioned area to 
identify possible locations for litter bins. 
 

Q.55 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
As an interim solution to making cycling along the canal safer while the planned cycling 
and pedestrian upgrade is underway (due for completion in 2023), can the area 
manager have the lights at the junction of Sally’s Bridge changed to a 4 way break? 
Currently the lights go from green to green with no break for pedestrians or cyclists, 
causing an ongoing danger, particularly for children cycling to the various schools in 
the area, unaccompanied or with adults. This would provide a temporary fix while the 
very welcome upgrade is underway.  
 

Page 49



Reply: 
As an interim solution, the ITS section will arrange for the site to be reprogrammed to 
allow for an all-stop traffic phase when the current pedestrian crossing on site is 
demanded. Please note this change will take 1-2 months to install. 
 

Q.56 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
Could the traffic engineers perform a safety assessment at the Applegreen Service 
Station on St. Agnes Road and look at whether a yellow box at the second entrance is 
needed to allow safe access and improve safety for cyclist and pedestrians, and if a 
suitable solution could be proposed to prevent cars from parking fully on the footpath 
outside the garage, as this is obscuring the view of drivers exiting the station and 
making it dangerous for pedestrians and cyclists (see attached)? 
 

 
 
Reply: 
This request (Enquiry Ref: 7028954) will be referred to the Area Engineer for 
assessment and report to the Transport Advisory Group for their consideration.  
The Councillor will then be informed of the final recommendations of the Transport 
Advisory Group.  
 
Dublin Street Parking Services will patrol the area and enforce any illegal parking 
observed. 
 

Q.57 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
To ask the area manager if the parking situation at the Pearse Park (St. Mary's Road) 
car park can be reviewed. The small car park is regularly full from first thing in the 
morning until 5 or 6pm with people leaving their vehicles there for the day when they 
go to work or using the car park as a park and ride facility for the city centre. This is 
making it difficult for park users and many of the elderly bowling club members to find 
accessible parking close to the park entrance.  
 
Reply: 
The carpark at this location is unregulated and therefore no enforcement can take 
place. 
 

Q.58 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

Page 50



To ask the area manager if a budget can be allocated for landscaping and greening a 
small area of the concreted expanse owned by DCC outside FirstStop Garage on 
Crumlin Road? As a key approach road to the Crumlin area it would be a nice urban 
realm improvement to introduce visitors to the area, and could include a Welcome to 
Crumlin sign.  
 
Reply: 
The area in question will be examined by the Area Manager and the matter discussed 
at the next scheduled meeting with members this month. 

 
Q.59 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if a budget has been set aside to complete the finishing of 
the footpaths in Crumlin Village outside the Garda Station (currently tarmac) as part of 
the Village Improvement Scheme, and if so what is the timeline for these works? 
Further to this, could DCC liaise with the appropriate stakeholders to look at opening 
up the entrance to the laneway alongside the Garda station by removing the wall? This 
would increase passive surveillance and potentially reduce dumping and anti-social 
activity in the laneway. See attached. 

 
 
Reply: 
The Area Manager understands that both areas outlined are under the ownership of 
the OPW and the matter will be forwarded to them for comment 

 
Q.60 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager if the foliage from Ringsend Park which is growing into the 
properties along Ringsend Park can be pruned.  

 
Reply: 
Hedge cutting season only commenced on September 1st. The locus has been 
examined and works are listed for inclusion in the autumn/winter shrubbery and hedge 
maintenance programme for the area 2022/2023. 
 

Q.61 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if the housing application of details provided can be 
progressed.  The applicant is becoming elderly and is in very unsuitable living 
conditions.  
 
Reply: 

Page 51



The above applicant is on the Older Person’s Housing List, with an application date of 
26/07/2021, and the applicant holds the following positions on this list: 

Area  Bedsize Position 

Area M 1 77 

  
The applicant will be considered for an offer when accommodation to meet her 
household need becomes available and according to her position on the list.  Dublin 
City Council allocates properties based on time on the list and currently there are 
applicants of longer standing who have to be considered as suitable vacancies arise.  
It is not possible to indicate accurately the prospect of an offer for any applicant. The 
number of vacancies arising will be a determining factor in the length of time applicants 
could expect to be on the waiting list.  
The applicant may wish to apply for consideration for a medical priority, she should 
complete the Disability and/or Medical Priority application form and submit it to the 
Housing Allocations section where it will be processed. If successful in obtaining a 
medical priority it may increase the applicant chances of being housed in a shorter 
timeframe.  
The applicant may be eligible for HAP which will provide them with financial assistance 
towards the cost of renting another property. Should the applicant wish to apply for the 
HAP scheme, she should make contact with the Allocations Section with income 
details for the previous 12 months where a Housing Advisor can provide information 
and advice on the scheme. 
 

Q.62 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if details supplied can be considered for details supplied  
 
Reply: 
The above applicant is on the HAP transfer List with an application date of 03/01/2012, 
and the applicant holds the following positions on this list: 

Area  Bedsize Position 

Area M              2             14 

Area M              3             20 

  
The above address is not a property within our housing stock.  
 
The applicant’s interest in details supplied 2 is noted.  
 
Dublin City Council allocates properties based on time on the list and currently there 
are applicants of longer standing who have to be considered as suitable vacancies 
arise. It is not possible to indicate accurately the prospect of an offer for any applicant. 
The number of vacancies arising will be a determining factor in the length of time 
applicants could expect to be on the waiting list.  
 

Q.63 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if the applicant, details supplied, can be housed ASAP, as she is 
in a very over crowded living conditions. 
 

 
Reply: 
The above applicant is on the Housing List with an application date of 18/02/2008, and 
the applicant holds the following position on this list: 

Page 52



Area  Bedsize Position 

Area M              2             12 

   
 
Dublin City Council allocates properties based on time on the list and currently there 
are applicants of longer standing who have to be considered as suitable vacancies 
arise. It is not possible to indicate accurately the prospect of an offer for any applicant. 
The number of vacancies arising will be a determining factor in the length of time 
applicants could expect to be on the waiting list.  
 
The applicant should keep checking the Dublin City Council website for any Choice 
Based Lettings that may become available in their area of choice.  
 
The applicant may be eligible for HAP which will provide them with financial assistance 
towards the cost of renting another property. Should the applicant wish to apply for the 
HAP scheme, she should make contact with the Allocations Section with income 
details for the previous 12 months where a Housing Advisor can provide information 
and advice on the scheme. 

 
Q.64 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the Manager to instruct the contractor who left the surface on Charlemont Street 
in an uneven state to return and rectify it.  Photo below. 
 

 
 
Reply: 
Charlemont Street inbound is due for permanent reinstatement resurfacing by utilities 
providers in the coming months. 
 

Q.65 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if QR codes (linked to an explanatory website) can be placed on 
historical artefacts around the city such as the below.  
 
QR Codes on artefacts around Wood Quay and Essex Quay, to include the long boat 
on Essex Quay to explain to visitors the historical importance of the area.  

Page 53



 
Reply: 
In relation to the question regarding QR activated heritage trails. In 2021 Dublin City 
Council created a tender framework for the provision of Mobile App for Heritage Trails 
Dublin. The purpose of this app is to animate the history and heritage of the city. The 
app will use augmented reality and other immersive technology to showcase Dublin's 
unique heritage. The app is currently under development and the first trail, 'Doors into 
Docklands' focusing on the docklands area of Dublin is due to launch in October of this 
year.  
 

Q.66 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if the Sean Moore Road can be re surfaced. This extremely busy 
road adjacent to Dublin Port is a very poor condition.  
 
Reply: 
The Sean Moore Road roundabout is due to be resurfaced in 2022 as part of Road 
Maintenance Services’ 2022 Carriageway Resurfacing Programme.  
 
Two no. substantial sections of the Sean Moore Road adjacent to pedestrian crossings 
were recently resurfaced by DCC Traffic Division. 
 
The remainder of Sean Moore Road will be put forward for consideration for future 
carriageway resurfacing programmes. 
 

Q.67 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager of the road surface at Chapel Avenue, Irishtown can be resurfaced 
as it is in is a particularly poor condition. 
 
Reply: 
Road Maintenance Services has completed an inspection on site and Chapel Avenue 
is being put forward for consideration for inclusion in our 2023 Carriageway 
Resurfacing Programme. 
 

Q.68 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager what is being done to ensure that third party utility companies who 
open roads and footpaths and leave them in a sub-standard condition, are instructed 
to return and leave the road / footpath in the condition that they found it in.  
 
Many photos below, location is around Grafton Street, South William Street.  
 
Reply: 
The locations in the six photographs were inspected by a member of the IMU team on 
1st September 2022 and the following was noted: 
 

1. Photo 1 - 26 Eustace Street  has been permanently reinstated by Road 
Maintenance Services 

2. Photo 2 - Powerscourt centre Williams Street South has been permanently 
reinstated by ESB  

3. Photo 3 -112 Grafton Street is a temporary Irish Water reinstatement and has 
been referred to Irish Water for immediate action. 

4. Photo 4 - Clarendon Row has been permanently reinstated by Road 
Maintenance Services 

 
5. Photo 5 - Outside Grogan’s Pub Williams Street South is a temporary ESB 

reinstatement and has been referred to ESB for immediate action. 

Page 54



 
6. Photo 6 - Williams Street South has been permanently reinstated by ESB  

 
Q.69 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager for an update on the spending and delivery of the projects 
outlined in the SEAC Discretionary Budget.  
 
Reply: 
Please refer to the Discretionary Fund Report included in the agenda for this Area 
Committee meeting. 
 

Q.70 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please provide an update on the following: 

 Installation of toilets on Clonmel Street 
 Installation of cafe and toilets in Sean Moore Park 

 
Can the Manager please provide a timeline for delivery as we are now at the end of 
another summer without the provision of these public toilets? 
 
Reply: 
The Café Unit with a public convenience at Clonmel St should be installed shortly. The 
relevant utilities were put in place at end of August. There are a small number of 
outstanding issues that need to be worked through over the coming weeks before unit 
can be put in place and open. 
 
In relation to Sean Moore Park the following was issued by the Office of City Recovery 
to the June Area Committee 
 
In May 2021 and in response to the Covid 19 pandemic, Dublin City Council Office of 
City Recovery went out to tender for suitable contractors to provide retail units with 
public conveniences at suitable location in the city for a three year period with a 
potential to extend to 5 years. 
One of the locations selected was Sean Moore Park where a café with a toilet was to 
be installed. The location agreed by parks for the unit was found to be unviable for the 
contractor based on the costs quoted to install the relevant utilities required to operate 
the unit. 
The tender has been cancelled. Parks will now progress with a plan to install a café 
facility with public toilets at the agreed site beside the playground in Sean Moore Park. 
It will take approximately 9-12 months for the utilities to be put in place and a tender 
competition to be run for a concessionaire to operate in the park. 
 
Following the cancellation of the above, the Parks Service will now progress the plan 
presented to the Area Committee in early 2021 for a café facility with public toilets on 
a site in Sean Moore Park adjacent to the playground. We have no timescale at the 
moment on the delivery date for this project but this will be clarified in the 2022 Parks 
Works Programme. 
 

Q.71 Councillor Claire Byrne 
Can the Area Manager please respond to the below query: 
 
‘I noticed a new street sign put up for Exchange Street Lower (where it meets Essex 
Gate, on the side of Lundy Foots). The Irish translation for the street on the old one 
used to read ‘Sráid Iseult Íocht’ but now reads ‘Sráid an Mhalartáin Íochtarach’ – a 
literal translation of the English street name. The old sign of coursed referenced 

Page 55



Isolde’s Tower, the foundations of which can be seen on this street, one of the old 
towers of the largely demolished medieval walls.  Would you know who would be in 
charge of making the decisions regarding the renaming of the street as Gaeilge? It 
would seem a real pity to lose the history of our streets which as encapsulated in the 
Irish names by amending them to a literal translation of the English names. Similarly 
there is only one sign left on Nassau Street with the original Irish name of the street 
‘Sráid Thobar Phádraig’ which is still intact. All the others contain the literal ‘Sráid 
Nassau’. Here is a short article about that if you are interested. The Irish name should 
be restored on the street signage today.' 
 
Reply: 
Dublin City Council is obliged to publish an official list of Irish Language names of all 
streets within its administrative area.  To do this, the Council work closely with the 
Ordnance Survey of Ireland and with An Brainse Logainmneacha [Place-names 
Branch] of the Dept. of Tourism, Culture, Arts, Gaeltacht, Sport and Media.     
 
During late 2003-2004, a draft list of street-names was compiled and forwarded to An 
Brainse Logainmneacha, for affirmation.  An Brainse Logainmneacha research place-
names on a continual basis to ensure that the correct Irish Language versions are 
used.  Having received the advice and recommendations of their experts, the Council 
proceeded to publish the list on 12th October 
2004.  https://www.logainm.ie/download/dcc-sraidainmneacha-bhaile-atha-cliath.pdf 
.  The list aims to introduce uniformity to the translation of street names in the 
capital, to eliminate incorrect versions of street names and to make addresses in 
Irish more accessible. 
 
Regarding your specific queries, please see the recommended official names below 
and the link to Brainse na Logainmneacha’s database for the specific street name: 

 Sráid an Mhalartáin Íochtarach / Exchange Street 
Lower  https://www.logainm.ie/ga/1383268  

 Sráid Nassau / Nassau Street  https://www.logainm.ie/ga/1383555 
 
Note taken from www.logain.ie  :  Nassau was first used in 1749 when Lord 
Molesworth gave that name to the street in honour of his son Richard 
Nassau.  Although a sub-committee of Dublin Corporation proposed in 1921 that 
Nassau Street / Leinster Street (amongst various other street names) to be altered to 
Tubber Patrick Street / Sráid Thobar Phádraig, the majority of these proposed changes 
in name, including Sráid Thobar Phádraig  were in fact rejected.   

I understand that An Dr Conchubhar Ó Crualaoich, Príomhoifigeach 
Logainmneacha / Chief Place name Officer with An Brainse Logainmneacha / The 
Place names Branch, The Department of  Tourism, Culture, Arts, Gaeltacht, Sport and 
Media, also responded to this same query.   Below is a copy of that reply and Dr. Ó 
Crualaoich’s erudite explanation regarding the Irish forms of the street-names 
Exchange Street Lower and Nassau Street: 
“In the first instance, I refer you to the booklet Street names Guidelines as published 
by An Coimisiún Logainmneacha/Place names Commission in 1992 (see: 
https://www.logainm.ie/download/streetnames-guidelines-en.pdf). This bilingual 
booklet, which includes a foreword by the then Minister of Environment, was the result 
of cooperation between a subcommittee of The Place names Commission (more 
recently replaced by the Place names Committee), Dublin Corporation and County 
Council, and subsequent consultation with all Local Authorities of the state. It includes 
an extremely useful list of generic elements that are/were common in street names, as 
well as guidelines in regard to typographical conventions, grammar, Irish surnames, 

Page 56

https://scanner.topsec.com/?d=1962&r=show&u=http%3A%2F%2Firelandsholywells.blogspot.com%2F2012%2F03%2Fdublins-little-secret.html&t=25979ba49fc3fda05dbcb0227143db30d58ed044
https://eur04.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.logainm.ie%2Fdownload%2Fdcc-sraidainmneacha-bhaile-atha-cliath.pdf&data=05%7C01%7CAdam.Ladd%40oireachtas.ie%7C78d7e93b87ed4820755b08da7ea84826%7Cce71ecf00b9747b2966cb4ecc8db23f2%7C0%7C0%7C637961559348618727%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Ur%2BJ0ja7L4Ia%2FWnj7ltdgM9tAWMUVK58buNxRN2HjIE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur04.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.logainm.ie%2Fga%2F1383268&data=05%7C01%7CAdam.Ladd%40oireachtas.ie%7C78d7e93b87ed4820755b08da7ea84826%7Cce71ecf00b9747b2966cb4ecc8db23f2%7C0%7C0%7C637961559348618727%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=he54PLlB3xfBUiCh0qaKePhEmgnHfUixJlV8dd%2BnBKU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur04.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.logainm.ie%2Fga%2F1383555&data=05%7C01%7CAdam.Ladd%40oireachtas.ie%7C78d7e93b87ed4820755b08da7ea84826%7Cce71ecf00b9747b2966cb4ecc8db23f2%7C0%7C0%7C637961559348618727%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=81RwPN%2BJGRcTZTMXsZ8ibQyoRNKoRbmCG%2BMmsevSoRs%3D&reserved=0
http://www.logain.ie/
https://scanner.topsec.com/?d=1962&r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.logainm.ie%2Fdownload%2Fstreetnames-guidelines-en.pdf&t=a8df0b74f2d77285ef05a5a08dc380dd7ee9ab9a


non-Irish surnames, and saints’ names. The booklet also makes it clear that ‘Local 
authorities should make available the official Irish version of names of streets, roads 
and residential areas …’ (p. 14). In contrast, the Place names Branch, acting on behalf 
of the Place names Committee (formerly the Place names Commission), has no more 
than an advisory role, as also made clear in the booklet: ‘The Minister has been 
assured by the Place names Commission [now called the Place names Committee] 
that their services are available to local authorities for advice [my emphasis] as to the 
correct Irish version of place names’. 
 
 This brings us to the project involving Dublin City Council, OSI and the Place names 
Branch dating from 2004, the intention of which was to standardise all street names 
within the jurisdiction of Dublin City Council. The role of the Place names Branch was, 
as pointed out above, advisory. This standardisation included the rectifying of incorrect 
spellings (in some cases simply a move to the Modern Irish standard), an attempt to 
bring consistency to the treatment of street names, and the correction of other errors. 
In regard to the two street names you mention, Exchange Street Lower and Nassau 
Street, you are referred to page 11 of the booklet mentioned above which contains a 
section called ‘Renaming of Streets, Roads’. It is stated there that ‘it would be far better 
to retain the names which have been created under a different system [of naming]’, 
but it further continues that ‘It would be enough to engage in renaming in cases where 
an error was made originally’. Thus for example the Irish form of a street name such 
as Yellow Meadows Avenue/Ascaill an Mhóinéir Bhuí, which did not contain the 
standardised Irish translation of meadow as found in the booklet, namely cluain, should 
not be changed to Ascaill na Cluana Buí. The word móinéar is, in any case, a perfectly 
valid Irish word for meadow. However, in the case of both Nassau Street and Exchange 
Street Lower/Upper, the names Sráid Thobar Phádraig and Sráid Iosóid 
Íochtarach/Uachtarach, respectively, were evidently considered to fall into the category 
covered by the statement ‘It would be enough to engage in renaming in cases where 
an error was made originally’.  
 

In a comprehensive note on the historical evidence for the name Nassau Street 
on logainm.ie (see: # 1383555), it is explained that the streets which are nowadays 
called Nassau Street/Sráid Nassau, Leinster Street South/Sráid Laighean Theas and 
Lincoln Place/Plás Lincoln, once formed part of 'St. Patrick's Well Lane'. Perhaps even 
a Middle Irish attestation dating from c.1100 ‘Tipra Phátraic i nÁth Chlíath', refers to 
this specific well. Be that as it may, the names Nassau Street and Leinster Street were 
already in use in the mid-18th century, as depicted on Rocque’s map of Dublin, while 
he referred to the present Lincoln Place as 'S. Patricks Lane', and on his Exact Survey 
of the City and Suburbs of Dublin he calls that street 'St. Patricks Lane'. Modern Lincoln 
Place was still called 'St. Patrick's Well Lane' in 1762 but this had become 'Park Place' 
by 1773, and in 1862 it received the name it bears to this day. Of course, had any one 
of these streets retained the name 'St. Patrick's Well Lane' or some variant of it such 
as St. Patrick’s Well Street, the Irish form would appropriately be Sráid Thobar 
Phádraig under the guidelines for the Irish forms of street names, but the name was 
lost. Note that if the local authority were to rename any one of these streets as St. 
Patrick’s Well Street today, the Irish form recommended would doubtless be Sráid 
Thobar Phádraig. Interestingly, in 1921, a subcommittee of Dublin Corporation 
proposed a motion to change the names Nassau Street/Leinster Street to 'Tubber 
Patrick Street', which would also be Sráid Thobar Phádraig in Irish, but the motion was 
rejected.  

 
‘Sráid Thobair Phádraig' was first proposed as the Irish name of Nassau Street 

in Post-Sheanchas (1905), an English-Irish gazetteer consisting mainly of post-towns, 
which became extremely influential during the course of the Gaelic Revival and the 
early days of the state. Its author, Seosamh Laoide, explained in the introduction to 

Page 57



the booklet, that he made a conscious effort to gaelicise names of English origin, in 
this instance obviously by using an Irish variant of defunct ‘St. Patrick’s Lane’.  

 
The Irish name found on older signs of Exchange Street, namely Sráid Iosóid, 

refers to a defunct English street name, i.e. Isod’s Lane, previously called Scarlet Lane 
and also Blind Quay (see: Dublin Street Name: dated and explained, C. T. McCready 
(https://archive.org/details/dublinstreetnam00cregoog/page/n6/mode/2up?q=abbrevia
tions) 
Le dea-mhéin, Conchubhar Ó Crualaoich. 
 
An Dr Conchubhar Ó Crualaoich 
Príomhoifigeach Logainmneacha / Chief Place name Officer 
An Brainse Logainmneacha / The Place names Branch” 
An Roinn Turasóireachta, Cultúir, Ealaíon, Gaeltachta, Spóirt agus Meán/The 
Department of  Tourism, Culture, Arts, Gaeltacht, Sport and Media. 
Teach an tSeoighigh 
8-11 Sráid Lombard Thoir 
Baile Átha Cliath 2, D 02 Y 729, Éire. 

 
Q.72 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager are there plans in place to redevelop the Ringsend Park 
depot on Cambridge Road and if so could he please provide details of those plans. 
 
Reply: 
There are no plans to develop the park depot.  
 

Q.73 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please increase the street cleaning of Bride Street 
and New Bride Street as the litter is very bad here.  
 
Reply: 
Waste Management Services clean the above mentioned streets five days a week, 
Monday to Friday. We will monitor the cleaning of these streets to see if improvements 
can be made within this cleaning schedule there. 
 

Q.74 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please provide an update on the upgrading of Vincent 
Street South playground and when the works will be completed. 
 
Reply: 
€12,000 has been provided in this year’s Discretionary Fund to improve the play area 
at Saint Vincent Street South.  Housing Maintenance have committed to providing 
matching funding for this project.  The Area Office will liaise with Debbie Clarke, Play 
Officer to advance this upgrading ASAP. 
 

Q.75 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please fix the pothole on the Nassau Street 
contraflow bike lane at the Kildare Street Junction as a matter of urgency. 
 
Reply: 
Road Maintenance Services has completed an inspection on site and we have noted 
and recorded this defect.  A repair will be arranged here as soon as possible. 
 

Q.76 Councillor Claire Byrne 

Page 58

https://scanner.topsec.com/?d=1962&r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Farchive.org%2Fdetails%2Fdublinstreetnam00cregoog%2Fpage%2Fn6%2Fmode%2F2up%3Fq%3Dabbreviations%29&t=bd2dd4f3d0168bc325180d5e1ef6c3cfc11c032b
https://scanner.topsec.com/?d=1962&r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Farchive.org%2Fdetails%2Fdublinstreetnam00cregoog%2Fpage%2Fn6%2Fmode%2F2up%3Fq%3Dabbreviations%29&t=bd2dd4f3d0168bc325180d5e1ef6c3cfc11c032b


To ask the Area Manager can he please explore the possibility of installing a pedestrian 
crossing at the junction of Camden Row and Wexford Street, and can he provide a 
report on the pedestrianisation trials of Camden Row.  

 
Reply: 
There is no plan currently by Dublin City Council to install controlled pedestrian 
crossing at the junction of Camden Row and Wexford Street. However, this request 
will be added to the list of future works programme for consideration.   
 
Camden Row was closed to vehicles from 6pm to 11.30pm Friday, Saturday and 
Sunday for four weeks from mid-August to mid-September 2021 to facilitate outdoor 
dining. There were no major impacts noted or complaints received.  
 

Q.77 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager for an update on plans to install public water fountains and water 
bottle refill stations in the south east and central areas, in particular the city centre 
area; and if he will make a statement on the matter. 
 
Reply: 
As part of the initial pilot scheme three water bottle refill stations were purchased. One 
unit has been installed in Clarendon Row with another unit to be included as part of 
the public realm improvement scheme on Adelaide Road and the final unit will be 
included in the Temple Bar Square Area Improvement Scheme. The feedback and 
learning from this pilot scheme will inform any wider rollout. 

 
Dublin City Council are looking to install more internal water fillers at library locations, 
to extend the initial three units that were installed in Ballyfermot, Walkinstown and 
Raheny which are available for the public to use. We are also looking into the possibility 
of including external wall mounted water stations on suitable DCC buildings. 
 
Due to staff leave a further response will issue to the October meeting and in the interim 
an update will be provided to the Councillor. 
 

Q.78 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager for a detailed update from the Parks Department on progress with 
a consultant archaeologist and remaining works to be carried out in relation to the 
Cabbage Patch park to ensure the remaining project aims can be achieved; and if he 
will make a statement on the matter.  
 
Reply: 
Following the meeting with the archaeologist, a detailed drawing was requested to 
show the planned works for gym equipment and play space including the raised beds. 
The arch and entrance wall was also discussed as was a new entrance gate, feedback 
on this was positive. 

 
We have gone to great lengths to ensure we do not have to disturb the ground below 
as this site is a burial ground and must be respected as so. 
 
Two new bins and a seat have been installed.  

 
Q.79 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Area manager if pedestrian crossings could be installed on the three sides 
at the Clogher Road/Parnell Road/Donore Avenue junction currently without one. 
 
Reply: 

Page 59



This question is currently with the Active Travel Programme Office. A detailed 
response will be issued to the Elected Member in the coming weeks. 
 

Q.80 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Area manager if he could explore the feasibility of installing small 
playgrounds at Bangor Circle and one of the green areas at Poddle Close. 
 
Reply: 
Parks do not have plans at this time to develop playgrounds at either of the above 
locations. The residents living in Bangor Circle are very close to Eamonn Ceannt Park 
(less than 1km) which has a playground. The residents of Poddle Close are also close 
to a number of playgrounds in Stannaway Park, Eamonn Ceannt Park and Neagh 
Road parks (approx. 1km). 
 

Q.81 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Area manager if Larkfield Grove could be added to the list for footpath 
repairs in 2023. 
 
Reply: 
Road Maintenance Services has completed a high level inspection on site and the 
footpaths on Larkfield Grove were noted to be, in general, in a serviceable condition. 
If locations of specific defects are provided, detailed inspections can be arranged at 
these location to determine if local repairs are required. 
 

Q.82 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Area manager if planters could be installed at the bollards at the 
Derravaragh Road/Neagh Road junction, the bollards at the Derravaragh Road/Mount 
Tallant Avenue junction and on the pedestrian island area at the Larkfield 
Park/Larkfield Avenue junction (directly opposite to 6 & 7 Larkfield Avenue). 
 
Reply: 
The budget for the provision of planters is now exhausted. There is currently a backlog 
of twenty similar requests for the Crumlin area that will not start to be fulfilled until 
spring 2023. In addition, our supplier is experiencing unprecedented delays in sourcing 
good quality materials at a reasonable cost to make these items, therefore we 
anticipate further delays going forward. In the majority of locations, planters are usually 
adopted by an environmental/ community group, local resident or business who look 
after the planters, with occasional watering and painting. The Community Team are 
not aware of any community group in the area suggested for these planters.  Previous 
installations are not doing well, for example the six planters at the park on Neagh Road 
are in poor condition and will need upgrade work next year. 
Any consideration of installing planters will need to be also be considered by our Traffic 
Department for safety purposes. 
 

Q.83 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Area manager if a few public waste bins could be installed along Clareville 
Road. 
 
Reply: 
Waste Management Services would not be in favour of installing litter bins on this 
residential road. However, we will keep litter levels and this request under review. 
 

Q.84 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

Page 60



To ask the Manager for an update on expenditure to date and progress made on 
housing related discretionary fund projects on each line item; and if he will make a 
statement on the matter. 
 
Reply: 
Works at Glovers Court were completed in April 2022. The Area Housing Manager is 
currently endeavouring to complete the remaining housing works listed in the 2022 
Discretionary Fund. 
 

Page 61



Page 1 of 3

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

27/09/2022
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 10/10/2022)
12 Items

1 7019993 BELGRAVE ROAD
(SE)

Dublin 6Double Yellow
Lines (Extend)

yellow lines on Belgrave Rd. are
too close to the corner of Killeen
Road

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Based on the observation by the TAG Area Engineer it is
recommended to rescind 4m from the P&D and permit parking
bay and replace it with double yellow lines, in front of 37 Belgrave
Road, to ensure visibility for motorists coming from Killeen Road.
STAT 1: Rescind a P&D and Permit Parking bay (MON-SAT,
7.00-19.00) on the south side of Belgrave Road, starting from a
point 3m east from the boundary line between No. 37 & 38.
Belgrave Road, curtailing in eastward direction for a distance of
4m. Relocate the P&D and permit parking (MON-SAT,
7.00-19.00) sign accordingly. STAT 2: Install double yellow lines
on the south side of Belgrave Road, starting from a point 3m east
from the boundary line between No. 37 & 38. Belgrave Road,
extending in eastward direction for a distance of 4m.

15/04/2021

2 7021744 PALMERSTON
GARDENS (SE)

Dublin 6Double Yellow
Lines (Rescind)

on the road. 0Member of
the Public

Recommended Following an assessment by the TAG Area Engineer it is
recommended to rescind the double yellow lines in front of the
driveways on the south side of Palmerston Gardens, as there is
parking regulation (Section 36 paragraph (2) (g) of The Road
Traffic - Traffic & Parking) in place therefore double yellow lines
are not required in front of a driveway. The remaining double
yellow lines still to be retained on the south side of Palmerston
Gardens. STAT 1: Rescind double yellow lines on the south side
of Palmerston Gardens, starting from a point 10m west from lamp
post No. 7, curtailing in western direction for a distance of 5.3m.

20/07/2021

3 7024718 MOUNT ARGUS
ROAD (SE)

Dublin
6W

Double Yellow
Lines (Rescind)

Double yellow lines requested to
be removed.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Due to the lack of visibility, double yellow lines were provided on
the north-east and south-west of Mount Argus Grove / Mount
Argus Road, to prevent vehicles parking on both bends which is
causing vehicles on Mount Argus Road to become unsighted to
exiting vehicles on Mount Argus Grove. Following an assessment
by the TAG Area Engineer it is not recommended to rescind
double yellow lines on corner of the aforementioned location. If
the residents of Mount Argus Road wish to proceed with an
application for a Pay & Display and Permit Parking Scheme they
can do so on the website of Dublin City Council (link for a new
application: https://consultation.dublincity.ie/tag/d7652216/ ).
Please find information on the criteria for a new parking scheme
on the following link
https://www.dublincity.ie/residential/parking-dublin-city-centre/start-parking-scheme/criteria
.

02/02/2022

P
age 62



Page 2 of 3

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

27/09/2022
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 10/10/2022)
12 Items

4 7025995 ELM PARK (SE) Dublin 4Traffic Calming Speed bumps would deter and
slow down the many vehicles
that come into the cul de sac
every day

1CouncillorNot
Recommended

It not is recommended by the TAG Area Engineer to install
additional traffic calming measures in Elm Park as it would not
qualify for the criteria to install speed ramps as there is not a
straight run of at least 200 metres. However, it was noted that this
cul-de-sac itself is naturally traffic calmed with the provision of
on-street parking on both sides of the road and the road is also
lined with mature trees offering a more enclosed residential
space. The combination of these measures offer a reduced
carriageway width for motorists and increases driver caution. Elm
Park is covered by the 30 km/h Slow Zone sign indicating the
lower speed limit. The area is a Home Zone/Slow Zone, which
warns motorists that it is a residential area and to expect children,
it is clearly marked at the entrance from the Nutley Lane.

12/04/2022

5 7027125 FERNS ROAD (SE) Dublin 12Traffic Calming request No Left Turn 0CouncillorRecommended Following a site visit by the TAG Area Engineer it is
recommended to install a ‘No Left Turn’ (RUS 013) signage with
MON-SAT 7.00-10.00 hours in operation to prevent rat running
from Stannaway Road through Ferns Road. STAT: Install RUS
013 ‘No Left Turn’ signage with a P 051 supplementary sign
(period of operation is MON-SAT: 7.00-10.00) on the north side of
Stannaway Road, placing it approximately 6m north-east direction
opposite to lamp standard No.8.

07/06/2022

6 7027214 WATERLOO ROAD
(SE)

Dublin 4Disab Park Bay
General

Reinstall disabled bay near 37
Waterloo Road.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Based on the assessment carried out by the TAG Area Engineer
it is recommended to reinstall a disabled parking bay in front of 37
Waterloo Road. (One of disabled bays had been rescinded due to
a new driveway, therefor new STATs required for the remaining
one.) STAT: Install disabled parking bay on the west side of
Waterloo Road, starting from a point 0.4m south from lamp post
No. 16, extending in southward direction for a distance of 6m.
GPS coordinates: 53°19'50.6"N 6°14'40.0"W.

10/06/2022

7 7027406 BREMEN ROAD (SE) Dublin 4Disab Park Bay
Residential

Disabled parking bay for 39
Bremen Road.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Based on the assessment carried out by the TAG Area Engineer
it is recommended to install a residential disabled parking bay on
Bremen Road in front of 39. STAT: Install disabled parking bay on
the south side of Bremen Road, starting at the boundary wall
between No. 39 & 40, extending in south-west direction for a
distance of 6m. GPS coordinates: 53°20'23.2"N 6°13'00.6"W.

21/06/2022

8 7027750 SHELBOURNE ROAD
(SE)

Dublin 4Double Yellow
Lines (Rescind)

Rescind the double yellow lines,
and reinstate the two parking
spaces.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Based on the assessment carried out by the TAG Area Engineer
it is recommended to re-install a P&D and permit parking bay on
the east side of Shelbourne Road, in front of house No. 68. This
P&D parking bay was temporarily rescinded during Covid-19 to
provide additional space for the Aviva test centre. STAT: Install a
P&D and permit parking bay on the east side of Shelbourne
Road, starting from a point in line with the boundary wall between
house No. 66 & 68, extending in southward direction for a
distance of 9m.

08/07/2022

P
age 63



Page 3 of 3

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

27/09/2022
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 10/10/2022)
12 Items

9 7027817 BREMEN ROAD (SE) Dublin 4Disab Park Bay
Residential

Disabled parking space outside
26.

1Member of
the Public

Recommended Based on the assessment carried out by the TAG Area Engineer
it is recommended to install a residential disabled parking bay in
front of 26 Bremen Road. STAT: Install disabled parking bay on
the north side of Bremen Road, starting from a point 11.5m
south-west opposite to lamp post No. 5., extending in south-west
direction or a distance of 6m. GPS coordinates: 53°20'24.5"N
6°13'03.5"W.

13/07/2022

10 7027991 HADDINGTON ROAD
(SE)

Dublin 4Yield Sign lack of road markings and
signage at the junction Percy
Place and Haddington Road

0GardaiRecommended Following a site visit by the TAG Area Engineer it was noted that
the junction of Percy Place and Haddington Road was lack of
road markings. It is recommended to install a Stop Sign (RUS
027) and associated line markings (RRM 017) on Percy Place at
the junction with Haddington Road, with continuous centre line
(RRM 001) extending longitudinally for a distance of 7m.

18/07/2022

11 7028217 WESLEY ROAD (SE) Dublin 6Cul-De-Sac Improved signage to alert
motorists before they become
stuck in a narrow Cul-de-sac

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Following a site visit by the TAG Area Engineer, it was observed
that the previously installed informative “Cul-de-sac” signage had
been replaced with the appropriate ‘Cul-de-sac’ (F350) Sign at the
entrance to Wesley Road, as per advised in the Traffic Sign
Manual. Therefore there is no change required in the currently
erected signage on Wesley Road.

29/07/2022

12 7028356 RATHDOWN
AVENUE (SE)

Dublin
6W

P&D/Permit
Parking (Rescind)

Moving the parking line for
access.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Following a site visit by the TAG Area Engineer it is
recommended to rescind 0.5m from the P&D and permit parking
bay in front of 6 Rathdown Avenue, to ensure the parking bay
starts in line with dishing. STAT: Rescind 0.5 from the P&D and
Permit Parking (MON-SUN, 7.00-24.00) on the north side of
Rathdown Avenue, starting from a point 4m south-east from the
boundary line between No. 4 & 6. Rathdown Avenue, curtailing in
south-east direction for a distance of 0.5m.

10/08/2022

P
age 64



 

 

 
            Culture, Recreation and Economic Services Dept., 
                    Civic Offices. 
                 
 
To the Chairperson and Members of the 
South East Area Committee  
 

 
Part 8 Notification for information purposes only 

New Library for Terenure 

 

 

Terenure Library is on the Templeogue Road in a suburban area of Dublin 

which is largely residential.  

The library is a small single storey complex of buildings of c.300 sq.mt and 
dates from the mid-1950s. The library was constructed in two phases and with 
a temporary toilet installed on the site in recent years. It is proving difficult to 

meet the library service needs and expectations of the local community, given 
the inadequacies of the existing building.  

 
In 2018, a survey was conducted on the existing buildings by ASI Architects 

Ltd. They recommended that the existing buildings be demolished to make way 
for a new purpose built library building. The site is extremely tight so the new 
build is likely to be a two-storey development. The ambition is to have a new 

library of circa 1,000 sq.mt. 
 

In June 2022 Cubetecture Design Limited was appointed to: 
 
 Prepare a tender and manage the procurement of a suitably qualified QS 

firm to prepare an outline cost plan for proposed development in 
accordance with City Council procurement requirements. 

 Prepare a tender and manage the procurement of other professional 
services that may be required in preparing the design of the new library, 
in accordance with City Council procurement requirements. 

 Manage the Part 8 planning application process in accordance with the 
requirements set out in the City Council’s ‘Local Authority Works Part 

8 Procedure’.  
  

The existing buildings would not be capable of supporting additional 

structures. Neither building is considered to be of notable architectural merit.  

 

DCC Libraries seeks approval of the South East Area Committee of their 

intention to initiative a Part 8 application in early 2023. 

The approval of a Part 8 is a reserved function of Dublin City Council. 

 

Mairead Owens 

City Librarian 

Page 65



 

 

Page 66



W

M

C

L

4

4

.
2

9

I
C

CL44.34

IC

G

4

4

.

2

7

4

4

.

3

7

4

4

.

3

2

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

B

S

B

I

N

C

L

4

4

.

2

7

E

I

R

C

O

M

CONC

B

R

I

C

K

EP

R

4

8

.

0

9

R

4

8

.

1

9

R

4

8

.

2

5

R49.12

R

5

2

.

8

4

R

5

0

.

6

0

R

4

8

.

4

2

E

5

0

.

1

0

E

4

8

.

9

5

E

5

0

.

1

7

R

5

0

.

3

1

E

4

9

.

1

4

E46.69

4
7
.
5
1

4
7
.
5
2

P

A

R

A

P

E

T

TO
W

46.10

TOW46.11

4

6

.
8

4

P

A

R

A

P

E

T

E

4

9

.

1

4

E

4

8

.

7

7

E

4

6

.

8

5

44.13

44.13

44.12

44.10

44.01

44.02

44.03

44.03

4

4

.

2

8

4

4

.

2

5

4

4

.

2

3

4

4

.

2

1

4

4

.

1

8

4

4

.

1

7

44.38

44.35

4

4

.
3

7

44.25

T

O

W

4

7

.
3

7

TOW45.79

TOW45.68

TOF46.86

4

5

.

6

9

F

E

N

C

E

4

5

.

7

2

4

4

.

5

5

4

4

.

4

5

TARMAC

B

W

L

4

4

.

2

7

4

4

.

3

2

4

4

.

3

5

4

4

.

3

9

B

W

L

S

W

L

S

W

L

B

W

L

R

4

7

.

0

7

18

20

16

10

T

E

M

P

L

E

O

G

U

E

 

R

O

A

D

14,14A

6

E
n
t
e
r
p
r
i
s
e
 
C

e
n
t
e
r

C

a

r
 
P

a

r
k

T

O

W

 
4

5

.
8

5

4

4

.
3

9

E

4

9

.

1

4

44.38

4

4

.

3

7

TOW47.37

TOW47.36

TOW47.31

4

5

.

6

9

F

E

N

C

E

933.89

CUBETECTURE

   CUBETECTURE    DESIGN    LTD   Architecture Design Interiors

   D18R2Y9     M;0874195522

Revision Date DescriptionDrawn

N.T.S.

Scale -

Date -

Job No -

Drn. MF Chd.

Drawing

No -

CAD Ref -

Status -

Rev -

21.9.2022

Part 8

8010

Project:

Proposed  New  Library  Terenure

Templeogue Road

Terenure  Dublin         D6W YC59

Client:

Dublin City Council

          Wood Quay

           Dublin

Title:

Proposed Plans

SITE PLAN

TLPT8 06

00

Notes:

PROPOSED  SITE PLAN

NORTH

NEW   LIBRARY

P
age 67



POOLBEG WEST SDZ PLANNING UPDATE
OCTOBER 2022 Myles Farrell

Summary of progress to date;

First application - for 3 residential blocks, granted permission on Sean Moore 
Road side.

3 further large scale applications have been the subject of Further Information 
Requests ; 2 were largely residential and one large- scale commercial.

Recent application for modifications to ‘meanwhile uses ‘ on site near the coast 
has been refused. previously permitted meanwhile uses were as per first 
application .

P
age 68



Location and status of applications

P
age 69



PWSDZ4543/22 ; Amendments to meanwhile uses – refused permission 16th Sept.

P
age 70



Reasons for refusal (PWSDZ4543/22) included;

• 1. The proposed food and drinks emporium and associated 
retail and hawker stalls are considered excessive in scale and 
inconsistent with the content and  land-use requirements of 
the Poolbeg West Planning Scheme. …

• 2. The location of the development and its proposed means of 
access via a substandard pedestrian and cyclist network in the 
vicinity and taking into consideration the nature of the 
proposed people intensive uses and activities,the proposed 
development would therefore endanger public safety by 
reason of traffic hazard ….

P
age 71



• The next decision made will be on the Further information 
received on residential application PWSDZ3406/22 ; This 
decision is due 26th October.  Application includes approx. 570 
apartments and related uses.

P
age 72



Public Domain Report  

Office of City Recovery September 

2022 

 

Page 73



 

Power Washing 

The August report highlighted the move towards a more regular washing schedule of the 

City Centre Streets.  This have proven to be very successful with very positive feedback 

coming from the public.  Therefore we will be continuing with the programme until mid-

October and will reviewing prior to that to see how we will manage the winter months.  The 

following schedule remains in place until then at least. 

Current Schedule 

Twice Weekly Weekly 

Barnardos Square Aungier Street 

Camden Street Clarendon Street 

Capel Street Coppinger Row 

Castle Market Dame Court 

Clarendon Street Dame Street 

Duke St Dawson Street 

Grafton Street Exchequer Street 

Henry Street Fade Street 

O’ Connell Street Harry Street 

South Anne Street Johnson Place 

Wexford Street Lemon Street 

 Liffey Street 

 Mary Street 

 Middle Abbey Street 

 Moore Street 

 North Earl Street 

 Parliament Street 

 Parnell Street 

 Redmonds Hill 

 South Great Georges Street 

 South King Street 

 South William Street 

 Suffolk Street 

 Talbot Street 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



Big Belly Bins 

The wrapping of the Big Belly Bins in the City Centre is due to commence mid- October.  Full 

update on this initiative will be in October report. 

Anti Sticker Paint 

The Anti Sticker Paint has now been applied to 40 poles in the Temple Bar area.  The roll out 

of this project is weather dependent. There is no noticeable difference in the appearance of 

the poles.  We are working with the contractor on sourcing a clear version of this paint that 

can be used on other types of poles/public lighting columns in the city. 

 

 

 

Boardwalk 

Pricing is currently being sourced to replace the Hand Rail on a section of the Boardwalk 

from Millennium Bridge to Grattan Bridge.  We will be deep cleaning the Liffey Walls at this 

location also and monitoring the outcomes of this piloted area.  

 

 

Page 75



Bridges 

In conjunction with Engineers and Heritage Department, O’Donovan Rossa Bridge and 

Father Matthew Bridge are undergoing painting and deep cleaning currently. 

The City Recovery Team are currently arranging to have deep cleaning on the following 

bridges; 

 Millennium Bridge 

 O’Connell Bridge 

 Hapenny Bridge 

 Sean O’Casey Bridge 

 James Joyce Bridge 

 Grattan Bridge 

 Rosie Hackett Bridge 
 

This will include deep cleaning of the granite where applicable, gum removal, washing and 

graffiti removal.  This work will be completed end of October. 

Graffiti Removal 

Graffiti Removal is planned in the coming weeks from all Shop Fronts from Tara Street 

Station to O’Connell Street Bridge in partnership with the businesses along this stretch of 

the keys.  Other areas targeted during September was Arran Quay with the cooperation of 

businesses along this section of the Quays. 

Graffiti removal is ongoing daily in the City Centre and we aim to remove offensive graffiti 

within 24 hrs of receiving reports.  To note: This work can be weather dependent and better 

results are achieved when weather is dry. 

O’Connell Street 

The work on the tree pits on O’Connell St was due to commence on 26th September but was 

delayed by one week and will now commence on 3rd October and will take 2 weeks approx. 

The Public Lighting Section reported progress on the lighting issues as follows: 

There was a Luas switch out 29th September that allowed us to get some 

maintenance work carried out on O’Connell Street. 

In summary over the very short timeframe available to us t 8 no. lights that were out 

of order were repaired and another 9 no. were bulk lamp changes that were carried 

out.  

Most of the work was carried out on the west side of O’Connell Street a little north of 

the junction with Henry Street as far as Parnell Street.We are hoping to get another 

Luas switch out (of red and green Lines) on the stretch on the western side of 

O’Connell Street between Abbey Street and Henry Street as early as possible. 

 

Page 76



Moore Street Market 

A launch of the additional Moore Street Market launch took place on 23rd September.  Prior 

to the launch the City Recovery Team worked alongside Waste Management and 

contractors to ensure the street was brought up to a high standard of cleanliness and to put 

a schedule of cleaning in place that will keep the street to the standard achieved. 

The team and the Temple Bar Company met with existing traders twice in the run up to the 

launch to communicate with the group and to assure them that this is an additional offering 

on the Street and they are welcome to participate but it is not in competition with the 

traditional Market. 

There was a good atmosphere on the evening and there was increased footfall on the street 

that night.  Feedback from the regular traders was positive on the night and ongoing 

discussion will take place with the traders as the market moves forward through the 3rd 

quarter of 2022 and into 2023.  The team worked with the Gardai to ensure an increased 

presence on the evening and to increase presence on the street going forward.,  

 

 

 

 

 

Catherine Brophy Wash    Frank Lambe 

Public Domain Officer    Manager, Office of City Recovery 

 

 

 

Page 77



 

Page 78



Culture, Recreation and Economic Services 
South East Area Office 

 
 
To the Chairperson and Members of the  
South East Area Committee 
 

 
Report of the Director of Services, Central and South East 

 

 
Grand Canal  
A meeting was held in January 2020 with Waterways Ireland representatives and Councillors 
to discuss ongoing management and maintenance of the canals in the city and to agree a new 
structure for quarterly interaction between Waterways Ireland and DCC. The latest meeting 
was held on 19th July 2022 via Microsoft Teams and the next meeting will be held on 20th 
October 2022 at 3pm. 
 
Portobello Harbour Square 
A meeting was held in early September 2021 with Roads Department, City Architects and 
hotel contractor and other internal departments to discuss arrangements for managing the 
build and the renovation of the square. Parks and Landscape Services will undertake a 
comprehensive local consultation around the re-design of Portobello Harbour Square in 
conjunction with the South East Area Office. The agreed design will then be submitted for 
approval under Part 8 of the Planning and Development Regulations, 2001 (as amended). A 
meeting with Councillors was held on 8th February 2022 during which Parks Department set 
out plans for the proposed public consultation. Áit Urbanism + Landscape were appointed as 
consultant for the project and two initial public consultation workshops were held on 1st and 8th 
June 2022 at St. Kevin’s Community Centre. Concept designs were prepared by consultants 
based on the outcome of these workshops and these are on public display at St. Kevin’s 
Community Centre between 3pm and 8pm on Thursday 21st July 2022. Online consultation 
was open until 19th August 2022. Preliminary Appraisal form has been lodged with the Capital 
Project Support Office (CPSO).  
 
Rathgar Village Improvement Plan (VIP) 
Herzog Park, Rathgar – Final Phase  
The final phase of the project includes the re-alignment of the front boundary of the park and 
the revised car park layout, as set out in the Part 8 permission. A preliminary site meeting was 
held with Road Construction engineers on 14th April 2022. Some surveys of the area have 
been carried out including a drone survey to assist in the design process. Once the design 
process has been completed it is proposed to begin work on the project in early 2023. When 
these works are carried out, further landscaping inside the park will be required as part of the 
works to complete the project. 
 
Ringsend Irishtown Local Environment Improvement Plan (LEIP)  
The Ringsend Irishtown Local Environment Improvement Plan (LEIP) was adopted at the June 
2017 South East Area Committee meeting. Following that it was proposed to prepare planning 
applications under Part 8 of the Planning and Development Regulations, 2001, for the 
redesign of (1) Library Square and (2) Cambridge Road. 
 
*Both of these projects are now listed on the Capital Programme 2021 – 2023 and have been 
awarded funding from the Urban Regeneration and Development Fund (URDF). 
 

Page 79



Library Square: (Mitchell & Associates) Meetings with internal stakeholders were held during 
September and October 2018. A meeting was held with local businesses to discuss parking / 
loading arrangements on 5th December 2018. A presentation was made to area councillors 
on 13th February 2019 and a preliminary draft design was brought to a public meeting for all 
stakeholders on Thursday 21st March 2019 in the Ringsend Irishtown Community Centre 
(RICC). Following a period of consultation up to 19th April 2019, submissions were received 
and were reviewed by the project team. A revised design was brought before the Public Realm 
Working Group on 22nd October 2019. A meeting of all internal stakeholders was held on 28th 
November 2019 and further required detail was identified by key departments. An invitation to 
tender for additional services to bring the project to Part 8 was issued to consultants and 
Mitchell & Associates were formally appointed on 17th November 2021. Preliminary meeting 
of design team took place on 15th December 2021 and detailed meetings with internal 
departments were held in January and February 2022. GPR Survey was carried out in January 
2022. Second round of meetings with internal departments was held during April/May 2022 
and work on finalising the design has commenced. A Road Safety Audit will be carried out 
before Pre-Part 8 is circulated. Formal Part 8 will be lodged during 2022. Councillors will be 
briefed before we commence the Part 8 process.  
 
Cambridge Road: An initial public workshop in relation to Cambridge Road was held on 
Thursday 30th August 2018 in the RICC. Meetings with Redscape Architects and internal 
stakeholders took place in September and October and designs were drafted based on 
consultations which were brought to a second public workshop/meeting on 28th November 
2018. Further information was required in relation to road design and drainage requirements 
for the proposal in particular. In 2019 Road Design & Construction Section, E & T Department, 
agreed to take on the completion of the project to Part 8 stage. Detailed meetings took place 
between Roads Design & Construction and internal departments with a view to agreeing an 
overall design before commencing Part 8 planning process. Parks Services Department 
requested that a Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR) survey be carried out prior to Part 8 to 
identify location of underground services and any impact on tree planting. Drainage 
Department welcomed the provision of additional greening providing a SuDS benefit and a 
proposed new surface water main is being considered in conjunction with Irish Water. 
Agreement of the final design for the road has been delayed as we wait for the NTA to finalise 
the route for the East Coast Trail (ECT) which will either traverse Cambridge Road or run 
along part of Cambridge Road from Canon Mooney Gardens to Thorncastle Street. We are 
awaiting an update on the East Coast Trail before we can make further progress with this 
matter. 
 
Cabbage Garden & Cathedral Lane 
We are waiting for Parks to complete the mapping of the works we intend to complete in the 
garden; namely the gym equipment, the community garden and the play area. Parks advise 
that the mapping is progressing, however, it is not yet complete. Stakeholders are frustrated 
by the lack of progress. The football pitch is being widely used by local schools during the 
school term. 
We are planning a Halloween event in the garden and details will be circulated ASAP. 
 
City Quay 
We are awaiting designs from a landscape architect to enhance the public realm at City Quay. 
We are liaising closely with local residents on this project. 
 
Aungier Street Triangle 
Contractors have been appointed to green the triangle at Aungier Street and this work is 
expected to commence in the next few weeks. 
 
Rosary Hall 

Page 80



After receiving extra funding of €240,000 which was approved at the April City Council meeting 
(as well as €125,000 already allocated)   it was decided to retender the entire proposed works.  
Meetings took place with both main community groups and consultant architects during the 
summer 2021 to outline and agree the proposed works which included mechanical & electrical 
works, fire safety works, remedial works and lift replacement.  The Area Manager also 
engaged in meetings with both community groups regarding governance of the facility and a 
management agreement was finalised in May 2022.  A supervisory committee, comprising of 
two members of the football club and two members of the HXVCC and the Area Manager will 
be established to optimise the use of the facility for the benefit of the community.  Tender 
documentation was completed and advertised and tenders were received back on Feb 14th. 
These tenders have been assessed by consultants and it is apparent that Construction 
inflation has led to a significant increase on the previously estimated cost.  A full CPSO 
appraisal form has been submitted in relation to the matter and it is hoped to include it in list 
of projects for capital funding consideration.  The disposal of the lease was agreed at the Area 
Committee meeting in June and was brought to the July council meeting and approved.  As 
all the requisite monies have not been sourced yet, the preferred contractor has been be asked 
if he will extend the deadline and to outline the uplift sought. 
 
Age Friendly Initiative Harold’s Cross 
The Age Friendly Committee for Harold’s Cross has been operational since early 2020.  A 
draft report was submitted by the Harold’s Cross Village Community Council (HCVCC) in 
conjunction with Rob Chester, Area Community Officer and it was agreed to progress a 
number of these proposals funding permitting. In tandem with this, it is proposed to hold a 
workshop to further engage with the residents and ensure particularly any elderly resident who 
was not consulted has an opportunity to contribute to the process and be included.  It was 
agreed to defer the facilitation of a workshop to get the views of the wider community until 
autumn 2022.  A subgroup under the Housing SPC has been convened to look at the city-
wide Age Friendly Strategy.  Under this structure, submissions for funding may be advanced, 
including the Harold’s Cross project. 
 
It has been agreed by the elected members that further monies (€8,000) will be allocated to 
this age friendly initiative in the Discretionary Funding for 2022.  IT age friendly tablets have 
been distributed to residents and have been very well received.  Cliff Run Media have supplied 
over 1000 units to established age friendly projects across the country.  The tablet comes with 
one year’s free WIFI and are dignity proofed to make access as easy as possible.  It is 
anticipated that when the works are completed on Rosary Hall that it can play a pivotal role in 
age friendly activities going forward. 
 
Eir have completed the work involved in getting an additional line into Harold’s Cross Park to 
enable Virgin Media to set up the Wi-Fi Hot Spot for the area around the café. 
 
A series of sub-group meeting have taken place in 2022 including February 11th, 28th, March 
16th and April 8th to progress matters and   it is hoped to schedule a programme of events to 
encourage people to participate in.  
The first Ageing Well Café Meeting took place on March 8th and was attended by about 40 
residents with great support from CVCC.  There was a good cross section of our older persons.  
A trip to Russborough House took place on April 11th.   An Ageing well Café Meeting took 
place on 17th May in McGowans and a full Age Friendly Committee meeting took place on 
May 5th.  The sub-group met on July 15th and a main meeting took place on the 20th September.  
A trip was organised to the National Stud on Tuesday 27th Sept and was attended by a large 
group.  
 
Rutland Grove/ Eamonn Ceannt Park 
A meeting took place on 30th January 2020 with traffic engineers, Les Moore from Parks, Area 
Manager and staff and Cllr. Pat Dunne. It was agreed at the meeting that Traffic Section would 

Page 81



look again at the feasibility of putting dedicated parking as per Part 8. Should it be possible to 
implement, the design would need to progressed and costed. 
Leslie Moore has indicated with response to a July motion that he will engage a consultant to 
review this issue regarding the Part 8 parking.  As an interim measure, planters were installed 
at the entrance to Rutland Grove to enhance the environment and assist with ongoing Illegal 
parking at the entrance. Regrettably a number of these have been vandalised and a solution 
is being sought in conjunction with the residents’ association. 
 
The presentation of the proposed works at the Parks Depot upgrade took place on May 13th.  
The consultant outlined the plans to Councillors and community groups and welcomed input 
into finalising the design. 
A further meeting took place on June 29th 2021 to update the Councillors and community 
groups on modifications to the drawings after Parks Section met with the residents’ group on 
June 17th 2021. 
 
It has been agreed that laminated drawings outlining the proposed upgrade of the depot would 
be erected on the depot walls to facilitate a better understanding of the proposals.  This has 
happened. 
 
Work is completed on the footpaths across the open green space as agreed under the 
Discretionary Funding.  A detailed capital appraisal was prepared for tender stage and works 
on the depot upgrade are scheduled to start second quarter 2022. However, due to 
construction inflation, the cost has exceeded the assigned budget.  A report regarding an 
update in relation to this was requested for the July SEAC meeting and a decision is expected 
this month regarding the project. 
 
New trees were planted in the estate at the end of January 2022 and a flyer was distributed 
to the residents outlining the importance of these trees.  A further meeting of the Friends of 
Eamonn Ceannt took place on Feb 10th.  Parks have confirmed small improvements in the 
park including wheelchair accessible picnic tables and sensory planting in front of playground. 
A Big Belly bin was burned out but will be replaced by two standard bins. 
Parks have confirmed that as part of an up-grade to the main Eamonn Ceannt Park entrance 
from Sundrive Road, the ‘Kissing gate’ was removed from Monday April 4th. The original gate 
is being repaired and when reinstated will be left half open, should the trial be deemed 
successful. 
The Crumlin Kimmage Festival took place on July 10th in Eamonn Ceannt Park and it as 
deemed a great success by locals and all who attended. 
A Friends of Eamonn Ceannt meeting took place on Sept 23rd including several updates in 
relation to Halloween. 
 
A  Crumlin Halloween Mini Festival is planned for in Eamonn Ceannt from 12pm to 4pm on 
Monday 31st October 2022.  
 
Choice Based Lettings  
A two bed unit in Rathmines Avenue was recently advertised under this scheme and it is 
expected that a one bed unit in Crumlin Road flats will be advertised shortly. 
 
CCTV Benbulben Road 
Following on from the provision of Discretionary Funding for the installation of CCTV at 
Benbulben Road, we have continued to try to progress the matter. Adhering to advice from 
DCC’s Data Protection Office, a letter was sent to the Garda Commissioners Office on the 
11th March 2021. This letter requested written authorisation from the Garda Commissioner for 
Dublin City Council to install CCTV at the location, which is a public area and not within the 
bounds of a Dublin City Council complex. The current DCC code of practice for installation of 
CCTV in public places requires such authorisation from the Garda Commissioner. The office 

Page 82



of the Commissioner replied on the 11th May 2021 and submitted a number of documents, 
including An Garda Siochána’s Code of Practice for Community Based CCTV Systems. The 
documents submitted are at variance with DCC’s code of practice for CCTV in public places 
and do not seem to take into account that DCC are installing the CCTV rather than a 
Community based organisation. Discussions took place with local based senior Gardaí in 
order to try and reconcile the differing positions but following further advice from our Data 
Protection Office further clarity was required from An Garda Siochána. Further communication 
from An Garda Siochána outlining their position on this matter stated that their internal 
policy/procedures will only allow authorisation of this scheme if it is designated a Community 
CCTV Scheme. Designating this CCTV Project a Community Based CCTV Scheme would 
impose greater responsibility on the local community in relation to their role in consultation, 
installation, maintenance and management of the CCTV system. In addition, given the 
proposed location of the CCTV and the serious criminality which takes place there, there is a 
significant potential for health and safety issues to arise for community representatives 
involved in such a project.   It would also have the potential to increase costs for the project.  
 
We held further discussions with An Garda Siochána in April 2022 in relation to this CCTV 
scheme and while they have not changed their viewpoint they have raised issues in relation 
to all CCTV schemes which will require further clarification with our own Data Protection Office.  
 
Additionally, the Office of the Data Protection Commissioner has recently issued a substantial 
fine against Limerick City and County Council in relation to the operation of CCTV in its area. 
This decision is likely to have knock on effects for other Local Authorities and our Law 
Department are reviewing the decision to assess its implications for existing and planned 
CCTV schemes.  
 
The latest update from DCC’s Data Protection Office indicated that discussions are ongoing 
between the Local Government Management Agency and An Garda Siochána and no 
clarification on the issues outlined above is forthcoming as of yet. 
 
St. Clare’s Park, Harold’s Cross 
Dublin City Council have now completed the acquisition of units in this new development.  We 
have acquired 19 units comprising of 11 x 1 bed units and 8 x 2 bed units. The 
Kimmage/Rathmines area office completed the selection of applicants and estate 
management checks on selected applicants and viewings commenced on 1st September. 16 
of tenants have now been signed up and are in the process of moving in. Following viewing 3 
applicants refused offers on the basis they were unfamiliar with the Harold’s Cross area and 
wished to remain living in their current locations. Viewings have now been arranged for 3 
further applicants following the receipt of clear estate management reports. 

 

Halloween 2022 
There has been an increase, as expected, in calls in relation to the storage of bonfire materials. 
However, activity remains low at the moment. Area staff will continue monitoring of historic 
sites for storage of bonfire materials and will liaise with local Gardaí, groups and individuals to 
gather information on storage sites. Closer to Halloween, inspections will be carried out around 
the area with staff calling to residents and businesses where materials which could be used 
for bonfires are being left out in accessible, insecure, areas. Further discussions have been 
held with local Gardaí and we will work closely with the Gardaí to ensure as quiet and peaceful 
a Halloween as is possible. As in previous years there will be close co-operation between the 
Kimmage/Rathmines Area Office and the Ballyfermot Area Office to ensure that, in as much 
as possible, all bonfire materials will be removed and available resources in both areas are 
utilised most effectively.  
 
Halloween 2022 
Allotments 

Page 83



Our Allotments at Blarney Park, Herbert Park and Ringsend Park continue to deliver fresh 
food as well as social, mental and physical benefits to our plot holders.  
 
Improvement works are due to take place at Herbert Park Allotments shortly which will include 
the replacement of 75m of fencing, painting and gate maintenance. 
 
Seven plots were returned this year at Ringsend Park and have been allocated to those on 
the waiting list. Applicants are not currently being accepted for waiting lists due to the high 
numbers already on them.  
 
The Kingfisher Project at Blarney Park Allotments has been supported with some ‘specimen’ 
planting to enhance the visual space of the educational space. A natural pond, seating (tree 
trunks), and all weather canopy have also been installed. This innovative project is gaining 
interest well beyond the area, with numerous groups and similar projects expressing an 
interest in the initiative. 
 
Christmas Tree Lighting Ceremonies 
Discussions continue with a new event management company to deliver our comprehensive 
series of Christmas tree lighting ceremonies for Christmas in our villages. Full details will be 
contained in the November report. Among the issues that will need to be addressed is the 
potential impending energy shortage this winter, and the increased cost of event management 
services. 
 
Community Grant Scheme 2022 
Over 120 applications were received from groups in the South East Area. Assessments of the 
grants was carried out by the Community Teams with the total available funding for the 
community grants coming to €63,500. 
 
Environmental Projects/Friends of Green Spaces 
Ongoing support is being provided to a range of environmental and eco-friendly projects 
across the area through the provision of flowers, planter boxes and soil/compost.  Projects 
supported since the last report include the following:  

 Hogan Place 

 Mercer House Flat Complex 

 York Street Apartments 

 The Cloisters (Maple Drive) 
The planter boxes on Kevin Street have had to be relocated to nearby New Bride Street due 
to flowers/shrubs being continually taken from them.  
  
A new hanging basket project is underway in Sandymount Village in partnership with local 
businesses.  To date, over 30 hanging baskets have been provided. 
 
Funding is now exhausted for the provision of planters, we will be assessing requests for new 
or re-furbished units for Community Plan with a view to restarting in spring 2023. 
 
Halloween Festival 2022 
In partnership with the local communities, the Community Team are currently involved in the 
organisation of Halloween Festivals in Brickfield Park, the Cabbage Patch, Eamon Ceannt 
Park and Ringsend/Irishtown to encourage young people to enjoy Halloween safely and to 
alleviate pressure on the community and policing bodies over that period.   
 
Dockers & Demons returns for its 6th year to Ringsend, Irishtown and the Docklands, promising 
all sorts of ghoulish goings on.  Full programme to be announced shortly – see 
www.dockersanddemons.com 

Page 84

http://www.dockersanddemons.com/


 
Many more tricks and treats are planned at flat/housing complexes including Markievicz 
House, St. Andrew’s Court, Boyne Street, Leo Fitzgerald House, Hanover Reach, Conway 
Court, City Quay, Whelan O’Rahilly House, George Reynolds House and Glovers Court; 
organised by local residents with strong support from the Community Team. See events 
listings below. 
 
There also be events for the wider community including a Bushy Park Halloween Market and 
a Halloween tea dance in the Evergreen Club. We will also support events for groups working 
with autistic children, and we will have some Halloween parties in our care communities. 
 
Demand for local events for Halloween is at an unprecedented high, with up to twenty events 
planned within a three day period as well as the major festival events noted above. 
 
Ranelagh Arts Festival 
The Ranelagh Arts Festival took place from from 17-25 September with a diverse and hugely 
impressive programme of comedy, theatre, visual art, music, dance and more taking place at 
the festival tent at Mountpleasant Park and other locations in the village. 
 
Rathgar Children’s Book Festival 
The Rathgar Children’s Book Festival will return on Saturday the 8th of October from 10am to 
4pm. There will be a large range of activities in the village with the aim of encouraging reading 
and literacy amongst young people.  
 
Rathmines Family Fun Day and Dog Show 
This hugely successful event took place on Sunday the 18th of September in Belgrave Square 
Park. Thanks to the fantastic work of the Belgrave Residents’ Association and various other 
local volunteers, the park was packed with local families and the exceptional number of young 
children living in the area was noteworthy. Over 170 dogs were registered for the dog show, 
a record for this event. 
 
Ringsend Active Retirement Association/Get A Life Over 55s 
Fifty members of Ringsend Active Retirement Association and the GALS/Get A Life Over 55s 
Groups will be enjoying a trip to Newry on Saturday, 8th October; with the coach due to depart 
from St. Patrick’s Church at 10am. 
 
Various/Miscellaneous Ongoing 
Supports for ongoing initiatives include new born knitting, Digges Street Football Pitch 
Whitefriar Strings Project, BRU Crumlin, the Evergreen Club, Men’s’ Shed projects and 
arrange of smaller groups across the area. 
 
South East Area Community Events – October 2022 
NOTE: Events for October/Halloween are continuing to be organised. Full listings will 
be emailed to all Councillors in early October. 
 
Thursday, 6th October at 2.30pm – Music in Merrick House with the Hampton Duo 
Thursday, 6th October at 7pm – City Neighbourhoods Prize giving, Hogan Suite Croke Park 
Saturday, 8th October at 10am – Ringsend Active Retirement Association/Get A Life Over 55s 
Groups to Newry 
Saturday, 8th of October from 10am to 4pm – Rathgar Children’s Book Festival 
Saturday, 8th October – Combined Men’s’ Shed Trip to Russborough House 
Friday, 28th October at 2pm – Halloween Tea Dance, Evergreen Club Terenure 
Saturday, 29th October from 10am to 4pm, Bushy Park Halloween Market (Events 12 -3pm) 
Saturday, 29th October from 1pm – St. Andrews Court Halloween Party 
Saturday, 29th October at 3pm – Orwell Healthcare Halloween Party 

Page 85



Saturday, 29th October from 3pm – Boyne Street Halloween Party 
Saturday, 29th October from 3-5pm – Leo Fitzgerald House Halloween Party 
Saturday, 29th October from 5-7pm – Hanover Reach Apartments Halloween Party 
Sunday, 30th October at 1pm – Involve Autism Halloween Party 
Sunday, 30th October at 3pm – Orwell Queen of the Peace Halloween Party 
 
Monday, 31st October from 12 to 4pm – Brickfield Park Halloween Mini Festival 
Monday, 31st October from 12 to 4pm – Crumlin Halloween Mini Festival (Eamon Ceannt Park) 
Monday, 31st October from 1-3pm – Conway Court Halloween Party 
Monday, 31st October from 3.30-5pm – City Quay Halloween Party 
Monday, 31st October from 6-9pm – Markievicz House Halloween Party 
Monday, 31st October from 6-8pm – Glovers Court Halloween Party 
Monday, 31st October from 5.30-8.30pm – The Cabbage Patch Cauldron, The Cabbage Patch 
Park, off Kevin Street/New Street 
Monday, 31st October – Dockers & Demons Festival Night 
29/30/31 October - Halloween Parties will be taking place at local housing/flat complexes in 
the Ringsend and Irishtown areas as part of the Dockers & Demons Festival  
 

Waste Management /Environmental Services 
Public Domain Deep Clean for September 
 
September  

 Merlyn Road/ Drive, Ballsbridge  

 Temple Road, Dartry 

 Baggot Lane 

 Mount Drummond Avenue/ Square / St Clare’s Terrace 

 Darley Street /Ashworth Place/ Fitzgerald Street /Mount Drummond Avenue /Place  
 
Graffiti Removal September 
 
September 
350 SQ M removed to mid Sept.  
 

  To be completed Mid October.   

 Traffic Calming measures still pending.  
 
Abandoned Bicycles 
321 year to Date  
 
Weed Control 2022 
 
Contractor engaged to do cutting back of overgrowth W/C 3rd October  

 The Drain, Ringsend 

 Washerwoman’s Lane, Rathgar 

 Marks Lane (Off Pearse Street)  

 Orwell Road (Hill beside Kiosk)  

 Dodder Walkway 
  

Page 86



 
  

             
 
As previously reported the Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership Virtual Hub is now live 
and can be accessed by clicking on the link below: 
https://www.dcswphub.ie/ 
 
Active Cities  
As previously reported the Active Cities logo and brand identity has been developed and is 
now being represented in all DCC/DCSWP communication.  The recruitment process for a 
dedicated Active Cities Officer has concluded and Carmel O’Callaghan has been appointed 
as the local lead for Dublin City.  Carmel will work in collaboration with the National Active 
Cities Lead Officer. Further information will be provided in upcoming reports.  
 
DCSWP Swimming Ireland Co-funded Officer 
Gearoid Fallon has recently been appointed as the new Co- funded Get Dublin City Swimming 
Officer (a partnership between DCC /DCSWP and Swim Ireland) Gearoid will be working 
across the Dublin City Council areas and updates on programmes will be provided in 
upcoming reports.  
 
Sport For Young People Club Small Grant Scheme 
Following on from administering the Return To Physical Activity Grant, the Sport For Young 
People Small Grant Scheme was advertised on 29th June 2022 with clubs afforded three 
weeks to submit their application. 150 applications have been received and are currently being 
assessed/processed by DCSWP. The grant scheme is targeted at young people age 4-21 
years and provides funding support for clubs in communities for the following,  

 Purchase of equipment 

 Administrative costs 

 Training and coaching courses 
 
Marathon Kids 2022 
The Marathon Kids programme commenced in 2019 when Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing 
Partnership teamed up with Athletics Ireland, South Dublin County LSP & Fingal County 
Council LSP to deliver an eight week programme in schools across the Dublin region. 
In its inaugural year Marathon Kids participants came together after eight weeks of hard work 
and determination to cross the finish line in Morton Stadium and celebrate completing their 
final mile in style.  While Covid-19 posed a serious challenge for the planning and executing 
of such major initiatives in November 2021 over 3,200 primary school students from the Dublin 
City area went out into parks, school-yards and pitches to see the challenge through. Marathon 
Kids 2021 is just one example of how programmes can keep going and thrive even in the most 
adverse of circumstance. In previous years the programme was targeted at 5th and 6th class 
level but in 2021 it was expanded to include children in 4th class, thereby extending the reach 
and teaching more young people about the huge benefits of regular exercise in their lives.  
 
In 2022 Marathon Kids will commence on 12th September and conclude following the 
Halloween break in November. Sport Officers have successfully engaged with schools in the 
South East Area with regard to participation in the 2022 programme.  
 
https://marathonkidsireland.ie 
 

Page 87

https://scanner.topsec.com/?d=1962&r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.dcswphub.ie%2F&t=accff1a64815405768257caff0ae6bca4309fe20
https://marathonkidsireland.ie/


Linking with National and International Events 
Over the next few weeks DCSWP will be linking on with the following major events.  
Programmes and initiatives in the South East Area will run in tandem with national and 
international events across communities and will be promoted across all social media 
platforms.    
  

Date  Initiative/Programme  Name  Lead organisation  

Sep - Nov 22  MarathonKids (see information above) 
MarathonKids/ Local 
Authorities/Local Schools  

11th- 17th Oct  Fit For All Week  CARA  

8th November Social Inclusion Week ( DCC Inclusion 
& Integration Week) DCC social inclusion Unit  

10th October World Mental Health Day DCSWP  

19th November Men's International Health Day   

3rd December  
International Day of Persons With 
Disabilities   

5th December International Volunteer Day   

18th December International Migrants Day   

 
Social media platforms and supports:  

 Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership Virtual Hub: www.dcwsphub.ie  
 Email: sports@dublincity.ie 
 Twitter: @dccsportsrec   
 Facebook: DublinCitySportandWellbeing 

 
 Instagram: @dublincitysportandwellbeing 

 
South East Area Core Programme Update: 
The following programmes will take place throughout October in the South East Area.  These 
are highlight programmes representing target groups. Full details can be provided by 
contacting DCSWP Officers or the Palace Street Officer on the contact details provided below.  
.  
Forever Fit – Older Adults age 55+ years 

Name of core programme: Forever Fit – St. Andrew’s Centre 

 Description of programme activity:  Older Adults multi-sport programme 

Partners: St. Andrew’s and Pearse St. Recreation 
Centre 

Age group: Age 60+ Years  

Gender: All 

Date/time and location: Charles Centre, Sandymount  every 
Wednesday from 2.30pm 

 

Name of core programme: Forever Fit – Lorcan O’Toole 

 Description of programme activity: Multi-Sport exercise classes – Lorcan 
O’Toole Adult Group, Crumlin 

Partners: Lorcan O’Toole centre Crumlin/Kimmage 

Age group: Age 55+ years 

Gender: All 

Date/time and location: Lorcan O’Toole centre every Wednesday 
from 3pm.  

 
 
 

Page 88

http://www.dcswphub.ie/
http://www.dcswphub.ie/
file://///dccdata/cande/Shared/EandC/Sport%20&%20Wellbeing%20Partnership/Communications/Area%20Committee%20Reports/Reporting%202022/South%20East%20Area/sports@dublincity.ie
file://///dccdata/cande/Shared/EandC/Sport%20&%20Wellbeing%20Partnership/Communications/Area%20Committee%20Reports/Reporting%202022/South%20East%20Area/sports@dublincity.ie
https://twitter.com/dccsportsrec
https://www.facebook.com/DublinCitySportandWellbeingPartnership/
https://www.facebook.com/DublinCitySportandWellbeingPartnership/


Name of Programme: Chair Fit 

 Description of programme activity: Chair Fit classes aimed  improving mobility 
and balance for Older Adults 

Age group: Age  55 + years 

Gender: All 

Date/time and location: Every Monday from 11am in Harold’s Cross 
Parish Centre.  

 

Name of core programme: Forever Fit Fitsteps Dance Programme 

 Description of programme activity:  Older Adult Dance  & Fitness programme  

Age group: Age 55+ Years (Mixed) 

Gender: All 

Date/time and location: Harold’s Cross NS every Tuesday from 
8.30am 

 
Thrive – Adults with mental health difficulties 

Name of programme: Football For All  

 Description of programme activity: DCSWP Officers continue to engage with 
the Spellman Rehabilitation Centre to deliver 
a football tournament targeted at adults 
undergoing treatment/experiencing mental 
health difficulties. The tournament will take 
place on Saturday 17th September from 
12pm in Irishtown Sport & Fitness Centre.  

Partners: FAI/Spellman Centre 

Age group: 18  +years 

Gender: Mixed 

 
Health Improvement in the Community 

Name of programme: D6 Holistic Health  

 Description of programme activity : Holistic Mental Health & Exercise 
programme for people experiencing mental 
health difficulties (referral only) 

Partners: HSE Occupational Therapists  

Age group: Adults 

Gender: All 

Date/time and location: Swan Leisure Centre every Wednesday.  

 

Name of programme: Men On The Move 

 Description of programme activity : Older Adult programme aimed at male 
participants. 

Partners: HSE  

Age group: Male Adults age 18+ years 

Gender: All 

Date/time and location: St. Joseph’s Parish, Terenure every 
Tuesday from 8pm 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



Schools/Sport Inclusion & Integration 

Name of programme: Inclusion & Integration After-School 
Programme 

 Description of programme activity: After-school programmes. This programme 
is targeted at children with special needs and 
aims to improve motor skills in both a fun and 
active environment.  

Age group: Primary Schools 

Gender: All 

Date/time and location: Harold’s Cross NS every Thursday from 
1pm.  

 

Name of programme: Inclusion & Integration Zumba 
Programme 

 Description of programme activity: Zumba classes targeted at adults with 
intellectual  disabilities delivered in 
partnership with St. Michael’s House 

Age group: 18+ years 

Gender: All 

Date/time and location: Harold’s Cross NS every Thursday from 
1pm.  

 
Women In Sport 

Name of programme: Women’s Try Tennis Programme 

 Description of programme activity  Introductory Tennis programme 

Partners: Bushy Park Tennis & Padel Club 

Age group: Women age 18+ years 

Gender: Female 

Date/time and location: TBC 

 
Change For Life - Underactive Communities 

Name of programme: Change For Life  

 Description of programme activity: Pilates programme targeted at underactive 
adults. Aiming to improve strength and 
flexibility  

Age group: Adults 

Gender: All 

Date/time and location: Evergreen Centre, Terenure every Thursday 
from 7.30pm  

 
DCSWP South East Area Co-Funded Programmes:  
Athletics, Boxing, Cricket, Football and Rowing Officers continue to engage with schools clubs, 
community groups and programmes related to the Youth At Risk core DCSWP programme 
e.g.: Late Night Leagues. Any specific queries on programmes can be sent to 
dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie 
A full report will follow on co-funded activities in October.  
 
Ongoing Training for 2022: 

 Online Safeguarding Training to support compliance in local clubs and organisations 
Safeguarding 2 & 3 continues to be delivered on an on-demand basis.  

 
 Disability & Inclusion and Autism in Sport training programmes delivered in partnership 

with CARA.  

Page 90

mailto:dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie


 
 First Aid/PHECC (pre-hospital emergency care training for adults in the community). 

 
CONTACT DETAILS: 
 

Name Role Contact Information 

Aideen O’Connor Programmes & Services 
Manager, DCSWP 

aideen.oconnor@dublincity.ie 

Colin Sharkey Office Manager, DCSWP sColin.sharkey@dublinciy.ie 

Michelle Malone Sport Officer, DCSWP Michelle.malone@dublincity.ie 

William Morris Sport Officer, DCSWP William.morris@dublincity.ie 

Marie Louise 
Reilly 

Sport Officer, DCSWP Marylouise.reilly@dublincity.ie 

David Phelan HSE Health Promotion & 
Improvement Officer 

Davidphelan6@mail.dcu.ie 

Colette Quinn Development Officer, Athletics colettequinn@athleticsireland.ie 

Jonathan Tormey Development Officer, FAI Jonathan.tormey@fai.ie 

Chris McElligott FAI Development Officer 
(disability)  

chris.mcelligott@fai.ie 

Ken Knaggs Rugby Development Officer Ken.knaggs@leinsterrugby.ie 

Fintan Mc Allister Development Officer, Cricket Fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie 

Michael Carruth Development Officer, Boxing Michael_carruth@ymail.com 

Aoife Byrne Development Officer, Rowing Aoife.byrne@getgoinggetrowing.ie 

 
 
 
REPORT BY: 
Dee O’Boyle Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing  
dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie 
 

 

 

 

 

Karl Mitchell 
Director of Services, Central and South East   Dated: 5th October 2022 

Page 91

file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/aideen.oconnor@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Michelle.malone@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/William.morris@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Marylouise.reilly@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Davidphelan6@mail.dcu.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/colettequinn@athleticsireland.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Jonathan.tormey@fai.ie
file://///dccdata/cande/Shared/EandC/Sport%20&%20Wellbeing%20Partnership/Communications/Area%20Committee%20Reports/Reporting%202021/South%20East%20Area/chris.mcelligott@fai.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Ken.knaggs@leinsterrugby.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Michael_carruth@ymail.com
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Aoife.byrne@getgoinggetrowing.ie
file://///dccdata/cande/Shared/EandC/Sport%20&%20Wellbeing%20Partnership/Communications/Area%20Committee%20Reports/Reporting%202020/Reporting%20Post%20March%202020/Central%20Area%20Reports/dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie


Culture, Recreation and Economic Services Department 
South East Area Office 

 
 
To the Chairperson and Members of the 
South East Area Committee 
 

 
Naming and numbering proposal for a development at Beach Road, Sandymount, 
Dublin 4 

 

 

Awaiting translation to Irish by An Brainse Logainmneacha / Shore Club 
 

A request has been received to name and number a development of apartments at Beach 
Road, Sandymount, Dublin 4. 
 
The applicant proposes to name the development Shore Club, Beach Road, Sandymount, 

Dublin 4.  Awaiting translation to Irish by An Brainse Logainmneacha.  The rationale for the 
naming is as follows: 
 
“Due to the previous occupation of the site by the Maxol Filling Station and a motor sales 
garage (Michael Grant Motors) and the fact that the area is likely to have comprised of 
estuarine mudflats until the 17th century, at which time reclamation commenced, there is 
limited physical, cultural or environmental history associated with the site.  Accordingly, it is 
proposed to use a name that links to the proximity to the sea.  With just 500 metres from the 
development site to Sandymount Strand, it is proposed to use a name that celebrates this 
location’s waterside positioning.  With other addresses in the locale such as Beach Road, 
Beach Avenue, Beach Drive, Marine Drive and Strand Road, we would like to further add to 
the tradition of sea related name.  The secondary word “Club” has been chosen to build the 
community feel for the residents who will call the Shore Club home.  The importance of 
creating a community at this development is shown with the carefully planned and designed 
residents’ amenity spaces with a high proportion of communal space given from the total 
square footage.” 
 
The Heritage Office considers the proposed name appropriate. 
 
The numbering scheme proposed is as follows: 
Ground Floor Apts. No. 001 – 016 
Ist Floor Apts. No 101 121 
2nd Floor Apts. 201 – 221 
3rd Floor Apts. 301 321 
4th Floor Apts. 401 – 419 
5th Floor Apts. 501 – 514 
 
The Acting Manager Land Surveying and Mapping has assigned the name Shore Club and 
numbers as shown above.  The development is shown on map SM-2022-0476-001-B. 
 
Accordingly the naming and numbering scheme as shown above is recommended for 
approval. 
 
Karl Mitchell. 
Director of Services Central and South East Areas. 

Page 92



Page 93



Question to the Chief Executive    South East Area Committee  
        Meeting 10th October. 2022 
 
Q.1 Councillor Daithi Doolan 

To ask the Director of Services, in light of drivers using Galtymore Road as a 'rat run' 
during traffic congestion along the canal and driving at high speed from Dolphin Road 
on to Galtymore Road, will DCC install traffic calming on Galtymore Road? 

 
Q.2 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager for the exceptionally dangerous footpath outside 66 Beech Hill 
Drive (for full disclosure my house), and 70 Beech Hill Drive, Donnybrook to be 
repaired. It would seem to me to be necessary regrettably to remove the two trees in 
that area as they have lifted the footpath to unreasonable dangerous conditions. 

 
Q.3 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager to comment on the reply received from a resident arising from the 
response to Question number 6 at the Area Committee on the 12th September 2022 
supplied with this question: 
 
Dermot Lacey 
 
“I am amazed at the reply from the Chief Executive.  If the wall was treated on 30th 
June, the decay (which should kick in a few days) would certainly be obvious by now 
and it is not.  It is also curious that the DCC rep that I spoke to on 6 July told me that 
the work was scheduled but not started and would take 8 -10 weeks.   He did advise 
me on the division of labour between the Parks Dept. and DCC in terms of the seawall 
maintenance.  The weeds are not just on the seawall but also on the roadside.  If I get 
a chance tomorrow I will send you some more photos!” 
  
Question to the Chief Executive  South East Area Committee  
      Meeting 12th September. 2022 

 
  
Q.6      Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager if he can ensure that the works promised (some details 
supplied with Question) to remove the excess weeds from the promenade wall 
along Strand Road is completed and if further examination will be conducted 
on how the growing rat problem in the same vicinity can be tackled. 
  
A very helpful guy in DCC on 5/7/22 and he advised that the work on removing 
the weeds from the sea wall is on the 'project list' and scheduled to take place 
in the coming weeks. 

  
Reply:  
Strand Road was treated on 30th June as part of the Manual Weed Removal Trial.  The 
seaward side of the wall and promenade would fall within the remit of the Parks 
Department. 

  
Parks Service will seek quotations for weeding along the inside section at the 
promenade wall. Given to the scope of the area it may be needed to carry out the work 
in phases depending on the funding available.    

 
  

Page 94



Q.4 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Manager if arrangements could be made for a more substantial pruning job 
on the tree (details supplied with this question). Please note the resident’s appreciation 
for the work done to date. 
 

Q.5 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Manager if the leaves could be removed and the footpath examined before 
this question is reached with a view to repair following a serious accident witnessed by 
this Councillor in the vicinity of 34-42 Morehampton Road, Donnybrook. 

 
Q.6 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager if further to previous questions including the one submitted with 
this question and taking note of the email submitted with this question, can he re-
examine what steps can be taken to assist the person referenced and clean up the 
area and removing the threat of a growing rat problem. 
 

Q.7 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Traffic Department if they will review the general Gulistan Cottages area to 
see what measures could be introduced to minimise access being blocked by cars 
parking at corners and other pinch points.  Examples include the Gulistan Cottages / 
Gulistan Place.  Please note that residents are presently discussing seeking a Disc 
Parking Scheme.   
 

Q.8 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the area manager what the status is in respect of unused phone boxes, 
particularly in Ballsbridge and plans for their removal.  

 
Q.9 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the area manager if appropriate parking enforcement could take place on 
Wesley Road, off Rathgar Road, where it is claimed that notwithstanding a pay and 
display zone, that cars park there with no permit and no ticket but face no enforcement 
as per the description provided below: 

 
I’m a resident on Wesley Road in Rathgar.  
It’s a pay and display zone 8am to midnight. 
It’s a tight cul-de-sac and parking can be tricky.  
Residents pay for street parking obviously.  
 
Recently the street has become close to impossible to secure a spot on, due to the 
fact that every day there are numerous cars parked here for days on end - no permit, 
no pay and display.  
 
As a street it is entirely neglected by Dublin Street Parking. Despite repeated requests 
for support from many residents, people can park and leave their car unpaid, for days 
on end without any fear of being clamped.  
 
It’s a very tight tricky street so this perhaps explains their lack of appetite to perform 
their job properly. I note however that they are very frequent visitors to the wider streets 
of Garville Avenue and Winton Avenue. Funnily enough those streets have ample 
parking for residents.  
 
This is hugely unfair to the paying residents that live here and play by the rules.  
There are about 20 spaces in the street. I just counted 7 cars that are here frequently, 
with no permit or ticket. Effectively a third of the street is taken by those that don’t pay. 
My wife is parked up on a curb on Rathgar Avenue - where she will have to go with 

Page 95



our 3 kids early today - while those that do not have to come and go like us can leave 
their car securely parked for days without ever having to pay for the privilege.  
 
We fully expect to be inconvenienced occasionally in terms of parking.  
 
However - people using the street to park to go to a restaurant or into the village to 
shop, will move on and free up spaces quickly.  
 
The issue here is that people view the street as a free ride and leave their unpaid car 
here for long extended periods.  
 
Nobody wants or needs constant visits from clampers - but the occasional visit is a 
strong disincentive to those that create the issue.  
 
Over the years (we live here for 13 years) the issue has ebbed and flowed but the 
complete lack of support from those that are paid to ensure the system operates fairly 
means that it is now a complete farce. In fact Paddy Smyth once assisted when he 
was on the council.  
 
I realise that you have more important matters than parking to debate - but it’s a daily 
frustration and annoyance for the residents that effectively are paying for those that 
park here but refuse to play by the rules.  
 
I have filled out the DSPS website form and provided pictures etc. but they do nothing. 
There was a car parked immediately across the road for a fortnight - the occupants left 
it there when going on holidays with friends of theirs living close by - and not once were 
they at risk of penalty.  
 
It’s a first world problem I know - but when you are bringing three kids to school, hurling, 
soccer and having to park miles away from your house - when you pay for the privilege 
while others with less active schedules occupy spaces illegally for weeks on-end - it 
causes a major nuisance.  
 
Is there any way you can raise a query as to this matter? 

 
Q.10 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the area manager if I could have an update in respect of the issues raised in 
the email below details supplied.  
 

Q.11 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the area manager if an update could be given in respect of the below query 
details supplied.  
 

Q.12 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the area manager if the OPW has reviewed the draft Service Requirements 
document for Sandymount Coastal Flood Defence Scheme Phase 2 which forwarded 
by Dublin City Council (DCC) to the Office of Public Works (OPW) on 7 June 2022; if 
a meeting took place between DCC and the OPW in respect of this review; and if there 
is an update on next steps to be carried out concerning Phase 2.  

 
Q.13 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the area manager if clarity and an update could be provided in respect of the 
works being carried out by GMC in respect of the water main replacement project on 
the Strand Road.  

 

Page 96



Q.14 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the area manager if a clasp could be re-installed at one or two of the pedestrian 
gates on Sandymount Green which can ensure the gate would close as was previously 
the case when a clasp was placed on one of the gates.  

 
Q.15 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 

To ask the manager when can Road Maintenance undertake the issue of potholes and 
road surface repair at Harold's Cross Bridge? 
 
I am notified it is becoming a real safety issue for cyclists and is an issue for 
pedestrians and bus users too. The enquirer has sent on photos which show cyclists 
avoiding the cycle lane. 
 
Other road repair work has taken place nearby – but has not been repaired on the 
bridge despite huge number of cyclists crossing both east west and north south. 
 
Is there a Road Maintenance issue on a historic bridge over canal? 
 

 
 
Q.16 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 

To ask the manager and Parking Department to have road access issues resolved in 
Gulistan. I am notified there are ongoing serious issues with access being blocked to 
the end of the street, resulting in residents frequently being blocked in and no access 
for emergency services including ambulances and fire brigade. 
  
In addition, the enquirer states that the street surface, and street cleaning/ weeding 
has deteriorated, creating an unsightly and hazardous environment, that is particularly 
unwelcoming to children and old people. 
  
The issues include: 
 ACCESS 
There is a pinch point at the start of Gulistan Place (at the bend - between Gulistan 
Cottages and Gulistan Place). Depending on how people park, residents in Gulistan 
Place are frequently either trapped in or can't access the end of the street. As there is 
free parking on Gulistan Cottages/ Gulistan Place, frequently people park on the street 
who do not live there, and are unaware of how easy it is to block people in. The result 
is that there is often no access for an ambulance or fire brigade. This is of great concern 
to us all. 
 
ROAD SURFACE 
Since the road was dug up a number of years ago to install water meters the road 
surface has severely deteriorated. There are loose chippings on the road surface which 
are dangerous for children playing on the street and a trip hazard for our elderly 
neighbours. 

 
Q.17 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager give a full report as to how the community centre TK2 at French 
Mullen house operates?  Many local residents complain that they have no access to 
this facility and that they are being treated as second-class citizens.  Bearing in mind 

Page 97



that this facility was built solely for the purposes of the residence of French Mullen 
house who are the former residents of Tom Kelly House this report to include a full list 
of all events that have taken place at the centre in the past year. 

 
Q.18 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager provide a full report as to how the College Green Plaza Project 
intends to proceed, bearing in mind that the whole project has to be retendered and 
go back to the drawing board? 

 
Q.19 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager initiate the process to place bicycle racks for parking beside the 
Upstairs Bookshop on D’Olier Street?  There is ample space here for bikes to park. 

 
Q.20 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager examine the possibility of initiating a policy guideline that would apply 
to city walking tours?  Many of these tours are pretty large in number and tend to block 
up the footpath and other pedestrian areas.  There is also now a wide use of 
microphones and loudspeakers because the gatherings are so large. 

 
Q.21 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager initiate a community and business program that would encourage 
people to fly the Irish flag on the premises in the city? 

 
Q.22 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report regarding the progress of resurfacing the road at 
John Rogerson Quay?  This road is very dangerous as it is dilapidated.  When it rains 
it is simply treacherous to all users.  This road needs urgent attention before a very 
serious accident happens here. 

 
Q.23 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report regarding complaints of noise pollution that took 
place on culture night?  The event in question was that Meeting House Square and 
Temple Bar and many residents in the area were simply appalled at the noise levels. 

 
Q.24 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager give a full report with regards the ongoing criminality and antisocial 
behaviour at Glovers Court? 

 
Q.25 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager initiate a task force that will deal with the ongoing criminality and 
antisocial behaviour on City Quay?  This task force to include representatives from the 
Central Area and South East Area Gardaí, local residents and businesses.  

 
Q.26 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager provide a Christmas tree this year for Stephen Street Lower? 
 

Q.27 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager have dishing provided on the footpaths at 8 Williams Place in order 
to assist residents in wheelchairs please? 

 
Q.28 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager if he will request the TAG to examine the report submitted with 
this question that seeks to improve accessibility in the Sandymount area generally and 
with reference to the case of details supplied. 

 

Page 98



Q.29 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager for a detailed update on the long overdue parking proposals for 
Rathdown, Terenure, as no progress has been made on this despite promises, 
proposals and surveys being carried out. 

 
Q.30 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to provide a progress update in relation to the urgent need for 
pedestrian crossings in Terenure Village (Rathfarnham Road junction) and the KCR 
(Fortfield Road junction).   

 
Q.31 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to implement a speed reduction solution for Lavarna Grove as this 
road is used as a rat run at peak hours and there is a small green which children play 
on and this presents a real danger when cars don’t slow down.  More signage of 
‘children playing’ or ramps would help to alert drivers to slow down.  Existing 30kph 
speed limit signs are largely ignored. 
 

Q.32 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager for a date when this rep that was raised earlier this year will be 
addressed. 

‘To ask the Manager to arrange for the road surface on Orwell Road to be 
repaired/resurfaced as soon as possible, with particular priority at the following 
two parts of the road. 
•  Between the Dodder River and the traffic lights at the junction with Orwell 
Park; and 
•  Between the junctions with Rostrevor Place and Zion Road. 
This road has a significant amount of heavy traffic on it which has led to 
the road surface issues.  The state of the road is now a danger to cyclists and 
also to pedestrians who have to step off the pavement to socially distance 
during Covid-19. 
Reply: 
On inspection, Orwell Road was found to have a large number of failed trench 
reinstatements and temporary repairs particularly between the junctions of Zion 
Road and Rostrevor Road and between Orwell Park junction and the River 
Dodder. The roadway would merit resurfacing and will be prioritised for 
inclusion in our 2022 Carriageway Resurfacing Programme.  
In the interim, major defects will be logged for repair in our asset management 
system.’ 
 

Q.33 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager to address the following issue in relation to parking enforcement. 
There are currently construction works ongoing at (details supplied -1 and the 
construction company are using a small laneway at the back of (details supplied 2) for 
access. A gate at the end of this lane is regularly blocked and this is causing significant 
problems for a healthcare worker who is frequently on 24 emergency call.  This 
potentially serious situation has been brought to the attention of the company but to 
no effect.  

 
Q.34 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to repair the potholes and road surface at Harold's Cross Bridge.  
It is becoming a real safety issue for cyclists and is an issue for pedestrians and bus 
users too.  I raised this issue on behalf of cyclists three years ago and unfortunately 
this main artery into and out of the city remains unsafe for cyclists.  I would urge this 
to be addressed immediately as part of the active mobility initiatives underway. 

 

Page 99



Q.35 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager to highlight with An Garda Siochána violent anti-social behaviour 
on (Details supplied -).This has begun to boil over in the weeks leading up to 
Halloween with gangs of youths now turning to aiming fireworks at houses, cars and 
people on the street and now, as of late, burning wheelie bins.  

 
Q.36 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to address the following issues on Gulistan Place please: 
 

A. Access being blocked to the end of the street, resulting in residents frequently 
being blocked in and no access for emergency services including ambulances 
and fire brigade.  

 
B. The street surface (in poor quality with loose clippings having been dug up in 

recent years for water repairs), and street cleaning/ weeding needs to be 
addressed as it is currently unsightly and hazardous, particularly for older and 
more vulnerable people.  

 
Q.37 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

Could the landscaped green space outside the post office depot in Crumlin be 
reviewed and pruned if required?  There does not seem to have been any maintenance 
at this spot since it was first installed during the Crumlin Village Improvement Scheme.  
Can we ensure it is on the Parks list for regular maintenance? 
 

Q.38 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
Due to anti-social behaviour in the laneway at Pearse Park (St. Mary Road), could a 
discussion with the Jackpotts Bingo Hall be had to discuss removing the wall between 
their premises and the lane, and replacing it with some fencing to open up the space 
and allow for passive surveillance?  The lane is a magnet for dumping, graffiti and anti-
social behaviour and by brightening and opening up the space it may improve the 
situation. 
 

Q.39 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
Could traffic engineers conduct a review of traffic and illegal parking at the Old County 
retail area with a view to establishing how the area can be improved in terms of access 
and pedestrian safety?  
 

Q.40 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
Could a review of illegal dumping of large household items outside DCC properties at 
Seagull House and Stannaway Court be undertaken with a view to addressing the 
problem?  Unrelated to Halloween, items dumped here are being set on fire and 
causing damage.  If CCTV needs to be installed or amended this should be looked at 
and would be allowed for under new national legislation contained in the Circular 
Economy Act. 
 

Q.41 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
In light of there being ample parking available at several locations in Terenure Village, 
can the Area Manager look at improving safety in the village by providing a 24hr 
segregated cycle lane on Terenure Road North instead of a clearway? There is no 
enforcement taking place in the village, there is no deterrent against illegal parking 
outside of clearway hours, and this is a longstanding and ongoing problem which is 
putting vulnerable road users at risk.  I respectfully request a reply that deals directly 
with my request for safe cycling infrastructure through the village of Terenure and does 
not include the sentence ‘Dublin Street Parking Services will be instructed to patrol the 
area and enforce any illegal parking observed.’ 

Page 100



 
Q.42 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

Can the area manager give an update on the status or timeline for a pedestrian 
crossing on Upper Rathmines Road at Church Avenue, which I was previously 
informed had received funding in 2021?  What is the current status of this funding?  Is 
this pedestrian crossing on any schedule of works?  If so, what is the timeline for 
installation?  
 

Q.43 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
To ask the Area Manager if the door of the bedsit at (details supplied) can be urgently 
replaced.  The tenant (details supplied) was notified earlier this year that a new door 
had been ordered but has heard nothing further.  Water enters the property via the 
door when it rains and the tenant is now suffering from serious health problems, 
caused by mould and humidity in her home. 
 

Q.44 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
To ask the area manager if the extremely damaged and uneven road surface on the 
Harold’s Cross side of Harold’s Cross Bridge can be filled in or resurfaced? The 
potholes at this location are now a safety issue for cyclists and pedestrians travelling 
across and past the bridge. (See attached images) 

 

 

 

Page 101



 
 

 
 

Q.45 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

Page 102



To ask the Manager if he will establish an oversight and consultative committee for the 
Poolbeg West SDZ involving local community stakeholders for the duration of the 
development of the Glass Bottle Site. 
 

Q.46 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager if he will arrange for the cleaning of waste and dumping from the 
St Andrew’s Court site which is due for redevelopment; if he will provide an update on 
the redevelopment of St Andrew’s Court. 
 

Q.47 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager if he will provide an update on planned cycling and activity mobility 
schemes and infrastructure plans currently underway or planned for the south east 
inner city and Pembroke wards. 
 

Q.48 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager if he will prepare and implement a busy neighbourhood travel 
management and reduction plan which targets and diverts excessive commuter 
through-traffic which progresses across the East Link and into the city centre, and 
back, via the Irishtown, Ringsend, Sandymount, and Beggars Bush localities. 
 

Q.49 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager for an update from the Parks Department regarding archaeological 
and other undertakings related to the Cabbage Patch. 
 

Q.50 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager the number of occasions on which the housing lanes in the 
Bremen area have been cleaned, weeded, and repaired in the last 2 years; and if he 
will arrange for these to be cleaned and where necessary repaired.  
 

Q.51 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Area Manager for an update in relation to work undertaken to address the 
rat infestation in The Cloisters, Mount Tallant. 
 

Q.52 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Area Manager if the Mount Tallant Boxing Gym in Neagh Road could 
receive new windows that slide to the left or right to open, as the current windows 
cannot open fully due to the security grills in place, which is making the gym incredibly 
hot during training. Furthermore, if arrangements could be made for a plumber to 
conduct a site visit to inspect the ongoing issues with water pressure in the gym. 
 

Q.53 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Area Manager if the space directly between Saint Martin's Drive and The 
Poddle River in Kimmage, Dublin 12 could be cut back, tidied and planted with new 
flowers. 
 

Q.54 Councillor Tara Deacy 
A number of residents have highlighted the blocking of the footpath at 199-203 Harold’s 
Cross by what seems to be a builder’s van, it is causing issues for elderly residents 
and wheelchair users in terms of having to use that busy road when leaving the 
footpath.  
 
Can Parking Enforcement keep an eye on this in the coming days and weeks and take 
the necessary action needed?  

 
Q.55 Councillor Tara Deacy 

Page 103



The resident of details supplied has been in touch regarding the same building 
company as above. (The building company are carrying out work at 199-203 Harold’s 
Cross Road). The construction company are using a small laneway at the back of 
Leinster Road, off Grosvenor Lane for access. The resident’s gate is at the end of this 
lane and the construction staff have been regularly (almost daily) using the laneway 
and his gateway effectively as off street car parking. Can this ongoing issue be 
addressed by Parking Enforcement ASAP?  

 
Q.56 Councillor Tara Deacy 

A number of residents have been in touch regarding the activities for Halloween this 
year and the lead up to same. People have noticed the beginning of the collections for 
bonfires etc. and have queried who to contact to report this. Could we arrange a leaflet 
drop in the area in terms of the appropriate contacts and also what DCC activities will 
be taking place and where? 

Q.57 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Could we get an update on the Sensory Garden for the area, it has been raised again 
by local groups? 
 

Q.58 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Residents have welcomed the street cleaning machine doing the rounds in the area. 
Is there any way we could get some notice in terms of this to allow people to take their 
cars in from the road to ensure the road is cleaned fully. (This may be one for the Litter 
subgroup meeting). 
 

Q.59 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please address the ongoing issues of litter, illegal 
dumping and improper bin storage on Denzille Lane?  Can Dublin City Council 
increase the street cleaning around here, introduce measures to address illegal 
dumping, and liaise with (details supplied) on finding a better bin storage solution that 
does not impact on the public space and cause disturbance to the local residents? Can 
Dublin City Council please work with the local residents to find a solution that is 
satisfactory for everyone? 
 

Q.60 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please provide an update on the Pearse House 
Regeneration and Retrofit project? 
 

Q.61 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please outline what plans are in place for the Dublin 
City Council tenants in College Gate Apartments should planning permission be 
granted for the current Metro Route which will impact on this block? 
 

Q.62 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager when the details supplied can expect a transfer. 
 

Q.63 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please assist details supplied in securing a transfer 
to a 2 bed home.  The tenants have outgrown the one bed and there are also safety 
concerns for her child in the local area'  
 

Q.64 Councillor Claire Byrne 
Can the Area Manager please install additional bike storage on Serpentine Avenue, 
Dublin 4? 
 

Page 104



Q.65 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager for a list of all permit holders and times for sports at Ringsend 
Park and Herbert park.  
 

Q.66 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if the housing need of details attached can be progressed. 
 

Q.67 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the Manager when traffic calming will be introduced in the small narrow Streets 
of Portobello. Many families in the area are terrified of speeding cars and trucks.  
 

Q.68 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the Manager if the housing need of details attached can be progressed. 

 
Q.69 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the Manager how much was paid by the hotel to Dublin City Council for the use 
of Portobello square / harbour.  

 
Q.70 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager to address the concern of residents around Boyne Street who are 
deeply concerned at the state of the former flats complete Saint Andrew’s Court, 
Fenian Street.  It is being used as a general dump and is now, in their opinion a health 
and safety hazard for the local community. 
 
Is this site regularly checked / monitored? 
 

Q.71 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager to liaise with residents on details attached who wish to change 
the hours of paid parking to 24/7 on their street in line with adjacent streets. 
 

Q.72 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Can the Area Manager request that the new street lighting on Benbulbin Road be 
improved to ensure that light is provided along the footpaths on both sides of the road?  
The recent installation of the new lighting has created dark spots. This road has been 
and continues to be a place for groups of youths to congregate and engage in serious 
anti- social behaviour. Can our Public Lighting Section consult with the Garda and our 
own Crumlin Area office with regard to this issue? 

Page 105


	Agenda
	2 Presentation on Temple Bar Square Area Improvement
	3 Minutes of the South East Area Committee Meeting held on 12th September 2022
	4 Environment and Transportation Department Matters
	6 Culture, Recreation and Economic Services Department Matters
	Report on Proposed Part 8 Terenure Library Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	06-Layout1



	7 Planning and Property Management Department Matters
	8 Office of City Recovery Matters
	9 South East Area Office Matters
	Report on Proposed Naming and Numbering of a Development at Beach Road, Dublin 4 Shore Club Irish Translation Awaited
	Report on Proposed Naming and Numbering of a Development at Beach Road, Dublin 4 Shore Club Translation Awaited Map

	11 Questions to the Chief Executive 10th October 2022

